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INTRODUCTION


Sweating heavily, the pilot put out a Mayday call. His passenger awaited his fate, having decided there was nothing he could do, or say, to help. He considered calling or texting his ‘nearest and dearest’, but didn’t see how that would assist much either. He thought about lighting a cigarette, but then remembered how a lot of fuel might be spilt if the aircraft had to crash-land.


Which it soon did.


It was early morning on the day of the British general election of 2010. In its final moments, the two-man plane had plummeted to earth at 80 miles an hour. ‘The impact separated the engine from its mounts and collapsed the landing gear,’ an official report found later. ‘As the fuselage hit the ground, the front section dug in and the aircraft pivoted forwards, coming to rest inverted.’1


‘It’s strange,’ Nigel Farage reflected years later. ‘Initially, you’re filled with fear, and as the ground rushes up, a sort of sense of resignation, kind of feeling, “Well, if this is it, let’s hope it’s all over quickly.” ’2


Farage opened his eyes. ‘There is light. Good God. I am still here,’ he thought to himself.


Still strapped into his seat, he could see the grass right in front of his nose. His face was almost touching it. His blood was dripping onto the turf.


Another few inches and the former, and future, leader of the UK Independence Party would surely have been dead. And the momentous decade which enveloped British politics after 2010 might have been very different. It’s not just a matter of whether or not the United Kingdom would still be a member of the European Union: the Brexit battle has also transformed our politics in ways which may be permanent. We may soon see the end of the United Kingdom itself, even if such repercussions were never intended by those like Farage who had long fought to leave the European Union.


This is the extraordinary story of one of the most important politicians of modern British history; he’s been a more significant player than most leaders of the traditional political parties, more influential than quite a few prime ministers. Nigel Farage is the only man ever to have won a nationwide election as leader of an insurgent party. And he managed that astonishing feat twice, five years apart, leading two different parties. Yet Farage has never been elected to the House of Commons, never served as a government minister and will almost certainly never achieve either role. He will go down as one of the great political communicators of our age, a man with a rare instinctive feel for public opinion, yet someone who managed to fall out with many of those, in his parties and beyond, who were committed to the very same cause.


Nigel Farage has written two what one might loosely call autobiographies – Fighting Bull (2010) and The Purple Revolution (2015).3 He features heavily in a couple of early histories of UKIP, and Owen Bennett has written two highly readable chronicles of Farage during the referendum period.4 But surprisingly, until now nobody has published a biography in traditional book form (though in 2015 a Kindle and audio biography was published by Matthew Lynn).5 In 2019, when a sympathetic former UKIP candidate Nigel Jones took Farage to lunch and announced he’d like to write a book, Farage made it clear that he wasn’t keen, and so Jones dropped the idea.


I have written six previous biographies, mostly on political subjects, and in a strange way this one has been harder to research and write than any before. In part, this has been due to the 2020-21 Covid restrictions which hindered face-to-face interviews and visits to archives, but largely because, like one of my early subjects, Jeffrey Archer, no aspect of Nigel Farage’s life is ever dull – not even his years trading metal futures in the City of London. His 2010 polling day air crash was one of three occasions on which Farage has come close to death; his political career is regularly punctuated with spectacular bust-ups; every move in his two main parties – UKIP and the Brexit Party – seems to involve intrigue. And he’s made an impact beyond the UK, admired by Donald Trump and publicly vilified by Hillary Clinton. In Europe, adversaries who initially derided this English upstart came to fear and have a sneaking regard, almost an affection, for him. Top that with a highly colourful personal life and the biographer is deluged with a wealth of material. And with Farage’s new career as a presenter with GB News, the stream of Farage opinions and interventions is unlikely to subside.


I have frequently interviewed Farage over the years, yet oddly I can’t recall when I first met him. During the Labour government of Gordon Brown, continuing into the Coalition of David Cameron and Nick Clegg, I like to think I was one of the first broadcasters to spot that UKIP represented a significant, and expanding, body of opinion in British politics which deserved proper coverage. This was not a view shared by all my colleagues at the BBC, ITN or Channel 4, many of whom thought it was wrong to boost UKIP by giving them publicity.


To interview Nigel Farage in front of a camera was always a challenge, always fun, never dull. On one occasion we enjoyed what’s fondly called a PFL – a Proper Farage Lunch (or Proper Fucking Lunch) at his favourite lunchtime haunt, Boisdale in Victoria, with beer, the seasonal grouse and plenty of red wine, though my guest did insist on regular fag breaks in the restaurant’s upstairs open-air smoking area. Farage seemed rather disappointed and unimpressed when I announced around 4 p.m. that I had to get back to work. But we had the odd row over the years, too, including one occasion when he publicly called me ‘despicable’.


This is an independent biography. He has not helped beyond answering the odd question on one or two occasions when we’ve met for other reasons. It is certainly not ‘authorised’ – that horrible term – or likely to be endorsed by the subject. In a free democratic society, journalists have not just a right but a duty to explore and understand the lives of politicians, and those who aspire to lead us. I told Nigel Farage about this book at the very start, and he was wary about it, understandably perhaps. Many of his friends sensibly took the view that they had a duty to speak up for him, though a few were so cautious as to be a waste of time. Quite a few people wanted nothing to do with this project, in some cases because Farage was an experience they wanted to forget.


The book could not be written without first-class research by Henry Dyer – a young journalist with a great future. My former wife Margaret Crick also made a substantial contribution with her skills at tracking people down and getting them to talk. Lucia Henwood did a great job wading through many of the numerous UKIP blogs, and also in fact-checking. My former TV colleague Philip Braund was extremely generous in supplying the fruits of his UKIP and Farage research over many years. I am grateful also to Seth Thevoz and Sophie Brokenshire for their research contributions.


I was also the beneficiary of a big suitcase and two large crates of documents from the early years of UKIP, supplied by the Conservative MP Craig Mackinlay, which was an astonishingly generous act given relations between us in the not-too-distant past. The former UKIP MEP Jim Carver also supplied scores of editions of the party magazine Independence. Stuart Dunbar was assiduous in helping with Dulwich College lists.


Another huge contributor wishes to remain anonymous, but I couldn’t have done without their meticulous UKIP archive. They were incredibly patient with my regular queries, and helped add a huge amount of extra UKIP colour and detail. Thank you also to Lewis Baston, David Cowling, Christopher Wilson, Gary Gibbon, Phil Hornby, Anamaria Townley and Caroline Morgan for their help in various ways. Jackie Mayes did a splendid job exploring the genealogy, based on previous work by John Hitchcock. Beverly Hetherington and Moira Hall transcribed several interviews.


My partner Lucy Hetherington put huge care into reading my manuscript and suggested substantial improvements. My daughter Catherine picked up numerous flaws and inconsistencies in the text. Every biography needs a family tree, and Catherine drew the Farage pedigree on pages 544–5.


I am especially grateful to Ian Chapman and Ian Marshall at Simon & Schuster, and to Kat Ailes, Polly Curtis and the rest of the team for their diligence and extreme patience, and to Martin Soames for his wise legal advice.


The book involved around 300 interviews, just a fraction of which are cited in the footnotes. A big thank you to all those who gave of their time and memories, and in many cases fished out valuable material. My big disappointment is that the pandemic greatly restricted my ability to visit places which are key to the story, and I wasn’t able to meet more of my sources in person. You can only go so far with Zoom.


There will inevitably be one or two errors. These are entirely my fault. If you let me know about them, I will try to correct them in future editions.


MICHAEL CRICK


London, November 2021










1 DOWNE HIS WAY



If you walk the London Loop, the 140-mile long-distance footpath round the edge of Greater London, it’s striking how swathes of outer London are very rural. You might be strolling through one of the remote English shires.


Downe, about a mile or so south of the Loop, in the Borough of Bromley, is a good example. To the visitor, Downe has all the characteristics and institutions of a classic English country village – a thirteenth-century church, a village hall, a primary school, a cricket club, two patriotically named pubs – the George and Dragon, and the Queen’s Head – and a grand residence, Down House, with its ample grounds and splendid gardens.


Through woodland and across local farmland, you’re within walking distance of the North Kent Downs – hence the name Downe (the ‘e’ was added in 1940 to avoid confusion with Co. Down in Northern Ireland). Winston Churchill’s country home, Chartwell, is six miles south of here; and above Downe, barely half a mile away, is the historic runway at Biggin Hill. From here, RAF Hurricanes and Spitfires helped Churchill achieve Britain’s ‘finest hour’ in the skies above southern England in the hot summer of 1940: the Battle of Britain.


Few places feel more traditional, or more English. Downe still seems like an idyllic 1950s picture of rural Kent, the county of cricket and orchards and hops grown to brew English ale. The only giveaway feature is the occasional distinctively red London bus trundling through. Downe has officially been part of Greater London since 1965, though thanks to the green belt policy it’s protected from the capital’s suburban sprawl.


This is Nigel Farage country. He grew up here. He walked the local fields and fished the local streams. He still drinks here, and to this day lives a mile down the road. Through all the turmoil of his life, personal and political, this part of England – which he still calls Kent – has always been home.


Downe is natural Conservative territory, of course. But it wasn’t always. In March 1962, this constituency, Orpington, saw one of the greatest by-election upsets of all time, when a Tory majority of almost 15,000 was turned into a Liberal majority of almost 8,000. The new Liberal MP, Eric Lubbock, had been a last-minute choice as candidate after their previous nominee was found technically to have committed bigamy. Lubbock, who immediately became known as ‘Orpington Man’, was a local councillor whose aristocratic ancestors had long lived at another local grand house, High Elms. Lubbock’s shock victory prompted a late twentieth-century revival of the Liberals – as a third party in British politics, a party not of government but of protest.


Two years later, on 3 April 1964, Nigel Paul Farage, a master of political upsets in the twenty-first century, was born at Farnborough Hospital, a couple of miles from Downe.


As a boy, Farage lived in a semi-detached Victorian cottage which used to belong to the Down House estate, the grounds of which it backed onto. The gardens were his playground. Now run by English Heritage and open to the public, Down House was for forty years home to a great Victorian who challenged the conventional wisdom of his day and outraged his contemporaries. It was here that Charles Darwin developed his revolutionary ideas, wrote his historic work On the Origin of Species By Means of Natural Selection, and conducted biological experiments in the gardens. The locals took pride in their illustrious forebear, who had employed some of the villagers’ grandparents. ‘We were aware of him and loyal to his memory, much as many Christians grew up with unthinking loyalty to creationism,’ Farage recalls. ‘In Downe he was ours.’1


The young Farage would wander through the grounds of Down House and nearby parkland, chatting away to both the people and the animals he met, and foraging with a fork and trowel for ‘treasure’ – collecting, as Darwin did. He still keeps some of his booty, including clay pipes, coloured glass bottles, fragments of pottery and coins. Farage acquired a detailed knowledge of local flora and fauna, following almost literally in Darwin’s footsteps. He was also inspired by his father, Guy, who loved collecting butterflies and moths.


The flamboyantly named Guy Justus Oscar Farage was twenty-nine years old when Nigel was born in 1964. He had married Barbara Stevens, five years his junior, the previous year. They were a lively and good-looking couple, both local to the area. She was a shorthand typist, whose father and grandfather had both served as CID officers with the Metropolitan Police – her father Robert was a detective superintendent by the time he retired, having specialised in murder and fraud cases. Guy was the son of a stockbroker’s clerk and worked as a stockbroker himself. Though smaller in stature, Guy bore a striking similarity to the future Nigel and was always dapper in appearance – with expensive pin-stripe suits from Savile Row, handmade, highly polished shoes, silk ties, a bowler hat and umbrella. He was, says Nigel, remembered ‘as the best-dressed man on the Stock Exchange at that time’.2 Guy was also known as a great talker, a storyteller, and full of charm.


Both sides of the family were traditional Conservatives, patriotic people who were hugely influenced by Britain’s role in two world wars. ‘When I was small, you could never spend time with my grandparents without them talking about the past,’ Farage has said.3 His grandfather, Harry Farage, signed up within weeks of the outbreak of war in 1914, but was injured in both thighs at Vimy Ridge near Arras in 1915, in a dangerous engagement for which his corporal was awarded the Victoria Cross. Harry later returned to action and became a lance corporal.


Nigel’s father Guy was a young schoolboy during the Second World War, and in later life would no doubt have loved to have been in action. Guy’s early adult life was blighted by the drinking culture which pervaded the financial institutions of the City of London. The young Nigel adored his father, but saw little of him when he was small. Whether working or drinking, Guy would spend nearly all his time and much of his money in the Square Mile, causing strains in the marriage as Barbara was left to bring up Nigel and his younger brother Andrew, pretty much on her own.


Barbara was as big a character as her husband, vivacious, outgoing and fun. ‘Both of my parents are very dynamic people,’ Farage once said. ‘They get involved; they get stuck in.’4 And his mother was ‘exceptionally glamorous’ in the eyes of the young Nigel.5 Years later, in her late sixties and early seventies, Barbara would slightly embarrass Nigel by stripping off and posing several times for fund-raising calendars. Flowers or other items were placed in key positions, of course, to save Nigel even more blushes, and once she even had pink roses painted over much of her body. The calendars raised more than £42,000 for charity. She also gave lectures on local and natural history topics, including the survival of the fittest.


Barbara has said that as a boy Nigel was never one for toys. He was too busy foraging the area on his own for fossils, bottle tops and the like. It’s interesting that in his fond reminiscences in two sets of memoirs, Farage makes little mention of childhood friends. ‘Weird child’, he says of his young self.6


In 1968, as Europe was suddenly opening up as a holiday destination for English families, the Farage family flew to Portugal for a fortnight on the Algarve, which at that time was only just starting to be a popular tourist destination. He was only four at the time, but Nigel was enchanted by the foreign food – exotic items included tuna steaks, sardines and spicy sausages. It was his first trip to a continent that would come to dominate his life, though it would be another two decades before Portugal joined the European Community. The holiday was meant to put things right between his parents, but it didn’t work. The following year Guy Farage left his family, and the two young boys were told their parents were getting a divorce.


Even though Guy Farage is still alive, and now in his late eighties, Nigel has always been remarkably frank and open about his father’s alcoholism. For a while, things got so bad that the boys were prohibited from seeing their father; he lost his job on the Stock Exchange and tried to fend for his family by trading antiques.


‘In fact,’ Nigel has written, ‘Guy Farage did at last prove a hero worthy of my mum and even of my illusions. In 1971, at the age of just thirty-six, he knocked the booze and started afresh.’7 He kept his pledge not to drink, and the following year was readmitted to the Stock Exchange.


Barbara quickly married again, to a local shop owner, Richard Tubb, who became Nigel’s stepfather and also his golf instructor, introducing him to the game and patiently coaching him. Nigel soon acquired a half-sister – Melanie, born in 1971 (another future calendar girl) – and a half-brother, Julian, born four years later. In 1980 Guy also married again – to Carol Hyatt. He didn’t retire until 2010, when he was seventy-five.





The evolution of the Farage family can be traced back through British soil to roots sixty miles due west of Downe, just south of Reading in Berkshire. Swallowfield is a village of about 2,000 people, whose most notable historic resident was Henry Hyde, the second Earl of Clarendon, who briefly – from 1685 to 1687 – was Lord Privy Seal and a close adviser to the Catholic king, James II.


It was in Swallowfield twenty years later, in 1706, that Mary Cowdery, a girl from a long-established Berkshire family (which was more often spelt Cowdrey), married a newcomer called George Farridge in the local Anglican church. George and Mary Farridge were Nigel Farage’s great-great-great-great-great-grandparents. But the question of where George Farridge came from is something of a mystery. There is no sign of him being born in Swallowfield, or of any previous relatives in the village.


In the summer of 2013 Nigel Farage was asked at a meeting organised by the Jewish Chronicle whether he was opposed to refugees. ‘Not at all,’ he replied. ‘I myself am a descendant of refugees, French Huguenots who came here to avoid being burned at the stake!’8 Farage is remembered to have made a similar claim when he was a schoolboy. It sounds slightly exotic to be descended from French Protestants, but it may not be true.


Earlier in 2013, the Mail on Sunday had said that George Farridge was born in 1681 as Georgius Ferauge in France – in Fumay in the Ardennes, in a finger of France that sticks into Belgium. The newspaper claimed that Ferauge was a Huguenot who had fled to Britain to escape the persecution of Louis XIV, though the article included no evidence for this.


The story seems unproven and improbable. Georgius Ferauge was actually baptised in a Catholic church in France, so it is unlikely that he would have been a Huguenot. And why would a Huguenot refugee, who probably didn’t speak much English, choose to flee to rural Berkshire when there seems to be no record of other Huguenots living in the vicinity? Indeed, the Clarendon connection with Swallowfield makes this account even more improbable, since the local estate was owned by one of them, a former adviser to a Catholic king, and Clarendon remained a life-long Jacobite who supported the Stuart pretenders to the throne.


At other times in the past, Nigel Farage has dismissed the idea that his name was originally French. ‘Don’t think so, no,’ he said when asked about it in 2009. ‘Thought it might have been Huguenot. No problem with that – great people, the Huguenots.’9 And in 2020, in conversation with this author, he also expressed scepticism about the idea. His theory was that the earlier spelling of the name was English, a combination of the words ‘far’ and ‘ridge’, perhaps denoting someone who came from or lived on a distant ridge.10


Over subsequent generations the surname went through several variations – Feridg, Ferridge and eventually Farage. The family moved from Berkshire to Mitcham in Surrey, where his great-great-grandfather Edward Farage was a police constable for 20 years in the mid-nineteenth century – so Nigel Farage has police ancestors on both sides. Over the generations, the family moved to Croydon, then Sutton, and onto Penge. Nigel’s great-grandfather, Daniel Farage, worked successively as a labourer, shopman, clothier’s outfitter, collector for the Singer Sewing Machine Company and then as a boot-maker. By the 1911 census, Nigel Farage’s grandfather, Harry Farage, was employed as a stockbroker’s clerk. Harry’s son, Guy Justus Oscar Farage – Nigel’s father – was born in Bromley in south-east London, in 1935.


As the rather exotic middle names suggest, there are other, much firmer, continental roots on the paternal side of Nigel Farage’s family tree. Around 1861, a young couple, Nicholas and Bena Schrod, both aged about twenty-three, arrived in this country from the German city of Frankfurt. Nigel Farage has said he suspects the name ‘Schrod’ had been shortened from ‘Schroder’, to make it sound more Germanic and less Jewish.11


The Schrods found rented accommodation in Frances Street, which ran between Tottenham Court Road and Gower Street in central London, and is now Torrington Place. Today the area is dominated by University College and other parts of the University of London, but in the nineteenth century it was run-down and impoverished, and a popular quarter for working-class immigrants from Germany. Many had arrived from the economic and political turmoil of the loose federation of German states, which would not become the unified modern Germany until 1871. At that time, Britain imposed no restrictions on immigration; many Europeans were welcomed here, especially if they had skills. In the mid-nineteenth century there was religious and political persecution in Germany, but the Schrods almost certainly came to London for a better life – as economic migrants.


Nicholas had learned his trade as a cabinetmaker in Frankfurt, and set up in business in London making wooden cases for pianos, both upright and grand models. He’d latched onto a trend. During the nineteenth century, pianos became more popular as middle-class families grew in number and became more prosperous, and people enjoyed the pastime of singing together round the piano. Meanwhile, Bena Schrod worked as a dressmaker and doing needlework.


In 1870, Nicholas Schrod appeared at Bow Street police court in London charged with assaulting two young men. It was the time of the Franco-Prussian War, and according to the Globe newspaper, Schrod had been leaning out of an upstairs window when he overheard the two men discussing the conflict in the street below. When one of the men boasted that ‘40 Englishmen could beat 80 Germans’, Schrod reportedly ‘came downstairs, charged the complainants with improper conduct, and assaulted them’. Farage’s German great-great grandfather was fined twenty shillings, and paid it at once.12


Nicholas Schrod was only forty-four when he died, and the couple’s only child, Carl Justus, who later adopted the more Anglicised first name of Charles, was Nigel’s great-grandfather. He was born in 1863, shortly after his parents arrived in London, and grew up to become a messenger with the General Post Office’s new telegraph network. The family later moved out to Brixton and Herne Hill, then to a three-bedroom semi-detached house in the growing suburb of Beckenham in north-west Kent, where he worked as a post office letter sorter. Nigel’s grandmother Gladys Schrod was born in Beckenham in 1900.


As well as these German forebears, and the possible French Huguenot connection, Nigel Farage has a strain of Irish ancestry. His great-grandfather Daniel Farage married Lucy Susannah Moynihan, whose grandfather was an immigrant from Ireland, and Farage is distantly related to the abstract painter Rodrigo Moynihan.





Three generations of the Farage family had lived in the suburbs and outer parts of south-east London since the start of the twentieth century. Nigel’s father, grandfather and maternal great-grandfather would travel by train each day from the Bromley area into the City of London. His grandfather Harry Farage, born in 1890, began life as a stockbrokers’ clerk and remained in the business for forty years – almost as long as his son Guy. His grandsons, Nigel and his brother Andrew, were also destined for City jobs, but first they needed an education.


Despite their separation and financial problems, Guy and Barbara Farage were keen to send their sons to independent, fee-paying schools. Nigel’s first was Greenhayes School for Boys, a day school opposite large playing fields on Corkscrew Hill in West Wickham, about five miles from the family home in Downe. Farage was just four and a half when he started, and would have had to turn up in school uniform – green, of course – with a green, red and blue school cap. ‘Very like Just William,’ says Martin Young, a Greenhayes pupil some years earlier.13


It was unfortunate that, shortly after Farage arrived there, his parents divorced. It may have been the Swinging Sixties, but in respectable middle-class suburbs like Bromley and Beckenham in south-east London, divorce was still unusual. It was frowned upon, even seen as a matter of shame, and schoolchildren suffered disapproval from fellow pupils. ‘It was as if the taint might rub off on them,’ Farage later wrote. So he fought back, telling schoolmates that divorce was quite normal, if not compulsory, among ‘clever’ and ‘top people’.14 The experience probably nurtured a tough resilience.


Greenhayes was very traditional, with lots of learning ‘by heart’ – important dates in history, the kings and queens of England, the times tables – and pupils had to live with the violent perils of flying board-rubbers or punishment by slipper. After just two years, when he was only six, Farage was moved from Greenhayes because his parents had heard an unfortunate rumour that the headmaster was up to ‘the usual thing’.15


They sent their son instead to Eden Park, a small preparatory school – mixed this time – a couple of miles away in Upper Elmers End Road, Beckenham. It was based on an old farm with a large main house with plenty of rooms, a loft converted into classrooms, and which still had the old servants’ bells. Three outbuildings had been turned into a nursery, a hall and a classroom; the lavatories had been converted from pigsties, and next to the playground ran the Beck, a small stream where the boys and girls sometimes played. Lunch was often eaten in a hut with long tables and benches. The school was run by the legendary and formidable Alice Mallick, who had lost her husband during the war and set up the school for local children who hadn’t been evacuated. ‘She made it very cheap for people who wanted to pay for education, but didn’t have a lot of money,’ one former teacher explains. She was ‘a real fireball and war horse,’ says the former sports master Roy Thompson: ‘Very strict indeed, but a great teacher. The kids used to love her and she loved the kids. She brought the school up from nothing. When I first went there I was in complete awe of her. She frightened the life out of me!’16 Thompson was actually a postman who finished his shift at noon, then took games lessons in the afternoon and often evening practice sessions, too.


Nigel Farage has described Alice Mallick as a ‘fearsome’ woman who ‘killed wasps with her bare hands’.17 Another old teacher, Pam Taylor, has similar memories: ‘I was terrified of her.’ The curriculum was ‘quite narrow’, she says. ‘It was a reading, writing, arithmetic sort of school, very formal.’ Very few of the teachers were properly trained or qualified, and ‘teachers’ pay was disgusting’, says one former member of staff – ‘the cleaner got paid more’.18 Alice Mallick would cook the school lunches herself.


The classes, one for each year, were small – between a dozen and twenty, and a lot of the pupils went on to good private secondary schools in the area such as Whitgift, St Dunstan’s and Dulwich College. ‘They always had elocution lessons, certain amounts of physical activity at a local sports ground,’ says Pam Taylor. ‘There was French on the agenda and music. Mrs Mallick played the piano, and at a very fast speed. She was a real character.’19


Academically, Farage did reasonably well, though he struggled with maths. A year early, at the age of nine, he took the entrance exam for Dulwich College, with which his family had connections on both sides. Nigel’s maths may have been ropey, but he apparently impressed the examiners with his essay entitled ‘What I Did Last Weekend’, in which he described feasting on fine and fancy food – ‘sweetmeats from furthest Araby’ – as well as losing his wellies in mud.20


He was accepted.










2 REBEL WITHOUT A CAUSE



Dulwich College was founded as the ‘College of God’s Gift’ in 1619 by Edward Alleyn, the celebrated Jacobean actor and contemporary of William Shakespeare. Hence, former pupils are Old Alleynians (though confusingly the college was divided in the late nineteenth century with the formation of two other local schools – Alleyn’s and the girls’ school James Allen’s). The son of an innkeeper, Edward Alleyn established his reputation as the great celebrity performer of late Elizabethan theatre, but made much of his fortune from property and business – including theatres such as the Rose on the South Bank – and, some think, a group of brothels along the Thames. Edward Alleyn also owned the Bear Garden, a bear-baiting site in Southwark, and even personally baited lions in a show performed for James I. Alleyn craved a long-term legacy – hence Dulwich College – but he never received the knighthood he always sought.


A flamboyant, powerful performer; a man of great energy; raffish yet spectacularly successful; provocative yet keen to keep in with the establishment. In all, an appropriate founder for a school which would one day be attended by Nigel Farage.


In most political biographies, the years at secondary school are worth only a page or two, yet Nigel Farage’s time at Dulwich College was not only colourful, but illuminates his subsequent life and career. Dulwich shows many of the contradictions in Farage’s character – the ultra-rebel who tries to provoke, stand out and show off, yet is also keen for recognition by those in authority – the man who wants both to join the established order, and yet also bring much of it down.


In Britain, taking an interest in your schooldays and joining Old Boys’ events is regarded by many as a bit naff, yet Farage loves Dulwich College. He sent one of his sons there, and regularly went to watch him play rugby on Saturday mornings. He recently served as President of the Old Alleynian golf club, and is an assiduous attender of alumni events where he sometimes turns up in an OA blazer with its garish stripes and brass buttons. The school, though, has a delicate love-hate relationship with Nigel Farage. On the one hand, he’s their most famous Old Boy these days, fiercely proud of his Dulwich past and admired for the way he turns up when he must be so busy, mingles with everyone and doesn’t try to press his politics upon them, or embarrass the school. On the other hand, the school can’t hide some discomfort with Farage’s public reputation and record, and how he represents an outlook and politics which many Dulwich staff and Old Boys abhor.


In September 1974, at the age of ten, Nigel arrived outside the imposing Gothic edifice. Designed by the same family of architects as the Palace of Westminster, Dulwich College is situated in extensive grounds in an affluent and leafy area of south-east London.




As you ascend into the Great Hall, portraits of great former pupils hang on the walls, including Sir Ernest Shackleton. On entering the school for the first time, Dulwich was a frightening and intimidating place… it looked and felt like one of the great classical public-school institutions such as Westminster School or Eton College. But Dulwich was different.1





Nigel arrived at Dulwich and caught the tail end of what was called the ‘Dulwich Experiment’, a scheme which from the 1940s to 1975 meant local councils paid the fees of boys who passed both the 11-plus and the school’s own tough entrance exam – so more than half the school’s intake of 1,400 boys didn’t have to pay. The result was a much more diverse population than at most other public schools, in terms of both class and ethnicity. The school had a couple of hundred boarders, but Farage was a day boy, and from Downe caught a bus to Bromley South station, then the train to West Dulwich, which took about an hour door-to-door.


Farage – or ‘Farridge’ as he pronounced it then – made an immediate impact. One contemporary remembers him giving a talk on collecting old bottles. ‘I thought at the time what an odd thing for somebody of nine to be doing, but also quite interesting, and that stood out. They were bottles like old-fashioned Pepsi bottles with an extra glass ball in the top to keep it fizzy. From the ’20s and ’30s. I don’t know where he found them. Maybe digging in rubbish tips.’ The same boy remembers Farage telling how his mother made him brush his teeth until the gums bled, ‘and I thought “That’s not right.” ’


‘He was very confident, articulate, forthright, a real character, not particularly academic,’ says Peter Petyt, a classmate from Farage’s first two years in the main school. ‘You could tell he would be someone in life.’ Farage was already used to political discussions over Sunday lunch at home, so together he and Petyt formed a debating team. ‘We won virtually everything,’ says Petyt. ‘He was quite a good foil. Both of us were reasonably confident and outgoing people, so we were able to get our points across. I remember him as quite an entertaining, witty chap. I really enjoyed being on the stand with him. There was one motion about trying to prove or disprove the existence of the Bermuda Triangle. I think quite a lot of the time he spoke without notes. He’d speak and be questioned by the audience.’2


And Farage was willing to argue any case. Their English master, Laurie Jagger, had to suppress Farage from speaking all the time in class debates, another contemporary recalls. When the English master called a volunteer to propose a motion Farage would invariably raise his hand. ‘No, not you, Nigel,’ Jagger insisted, hoping to find someone new to do the job. And when Jagger then sought an opposition speaker, Farage, undeterred, would volunteer again. ‘To my mind, if you wanted to support something you couldn’t oppose it, too,’ says this classmate. ‘I realised how mature and self-assured he was.’


Farage wasn’t much good at running or athletics but was a keen cricketer, and during Test matches he’d walk round school with a transistor radio pressed to his ear for the live commentary. The teacher who picked him for the Under-11 squad, Gardner Thompson, recollects how Farage ‘never stopped talking’ on the cricket field, ‘to the extent that on one occasion I was moved to banish him from the vicinity of where I stood as umpire to the deepest of deep-fielding positions, so that I no longer had to listen’.3


Farage’s extra-curricular activities extended beyond the school gates, as the listener to his bottle-top lecture recalls:




We got into all sorts of trouble, and he also smoked very heavily, from a very early age. I think we were about eleven. I was quite in awe of him, because at West Dulwich station we would all crowd onto the platform, and he could spit across the double rails and get people on the opposite platform who were going north to Victoria. As a nine-, ten-, eleven-year-old boy I was quite impressed with that. I thought it was quite an achievement. I think possibly we all tried it.





Stuart Dunbar, another classmate in Farage’s first year, also travelled into Dulwich every day by train: ‘He was the sort who kept getting into trouble and that always involved me.’


Dunbar came from a station further down the line, and Farage encouraged him to catch a later train so they could travel with all their Dulwich mates. At that time the electric trains through Dulwich were often divided into separate compartments which the boys called ‘dog-boxes’. ‘You could take the light bulbs out,’ another of the regular Dulwich train party recalls, ‘and then during the Sydenham Hill tunnel, you could have a massive punch-up in the dark, obviously hilariously funny.’


Stuart Dunbar remembers:




They used to find an empty, single compartment and wait until they got into a tunnel and just throw the light bulbs out of the window, throw the cushions out – that sort of thing! I promise you it happened, on a regular basis. And then there was a big thing at school assembly. British Rail had contacted the school saying there was vandalism, and they believed it was Dulwich boys who were doing it. I think it probably stopped then.





These rail journeys were almost as formative as school life, says Tim France. ‘The train was where we did our own (and each other’s!) homework. It was where we experimented with smoking and swearing and chatting up girls.’4


One of Stuart Dunbar’s other memories from this early period is how Farage would join his mates in the groundsman’s hut at lunchtime and sit smoking or drinking beer, which one of the boys would steal from his father. But the threat of expulsion came after one of the teachers failed to turn up for a lesson and four of them, including Farage and a friend of theirs called Paul Cousins, ended up in a water fight in the lavatories, ‘just absolutely soaking each other’. ‘And the head of the lower school came in and just went absolutely mad and said to me, and I think to Paul, but not Nigel: “I’m surprised at you two: your future at the school is on my desk at the moment, and I can tell you now you won’t be coming back next year.” So that really scared me. So the next year I thought I don’t want to be friends with him, I just end up in trouble.’


Dunbar remembers Farage as being highly political, even at the age of eleven or twelve. ‘He knew so much about politics and was very Conservative.’ And Dunbar will never forget the day Harold Wilson resigned as prime minister in 1976, when Farage was just eleven. He ‘came into class singing “The Sun Has Got His Hat On” at the top of his voice. He was just so happy and he came and sat down and said: “Wilson’s just resigned.” And I thought, Why would you even bother about that? It didn’t even occur to me.’


The mid-1970s were a period when the neo-fascist and racist National Front became prominent, especially after clashes with anti-fascist protestors in central London in 1974 when a student, Kevin Gately, was killed in Red Lion Square. As the decade wore on, the tensions were probably greatest on the streets of south-east London. In 1977, there were violent scenes just down the road from Dulwich in ‘The Battle of Lewisham’ in which fifty-six police officers were injured, weighing in between National Front marchers and anti-fascist counter-demonstrators.


In 1981 the death of thirteen young Black people in a fire at a house at New Cross exacerbated the tension. Many in the Black community suspected the fire wasn’t an accident but a racist attack. Protests were held under the slogan ‘Thirteen Dead, Nothing Said’. Local police were accused of not investigating the incident properly, and of being racist for not bringing anyone to justice over the fire.


The late ’70s and early ’80s were a turbulent time in British politics, with the advent of Thatcherism, huge industrial struggles, mass unemployment and social unrest. In the spring of 1981, some of that unrest occurred only a couple of miles from Dulwich College on the streets of Brixton, where mostly Black youths rioted against aggressive policing, racism, the lack of jobs, and poverty. For several nights running, they burned cars, looted shops and attacked the police. And during these troubles Dulwich College allowed the Metropolitan Police to use the school grounds as a base to park their armoured vans and for officers in riot gear to recuperate and regroup.


Dunbar says that even though their mutual friend Paul Cousins was Black, Nigel Farage could sometimes be ‘racist’.




Whether that was attention-seeking, just to wind people up, I don’t know. He had this thing about the National Front, and would run into classrooms and chalk NF on the board, but obviously that was his initials as well. But also, he got on really well with Paul Cousins, the Black kid, so he didn’t have a problem with that at all… I’d come from a much more multi-cultural school in south London where there were instances of people being called names, but I’d never seen that level of someone being so fixated on it. It really was a major thing for him. I do remember asking him once why he said those things, why he didn’t like Black people? ‘And what about Paul?’5





Sadly, Stuart Dunbar can’t remember Farage’s response.


Farage’s main activities outside class were cricket and golf, and the army section of the college’s Combined Cadet Force (CCF), in which Farage always tried to be the smartest cadet. ‘I remember you spending hours with spit and polish producing what were unquestionably the brightest pair of CCF army boots in school,’ one contemporary told Farage years later.6


While the CCF showed the conformist side of his character, Farage’s rebellious streak was often to the fore. In his fourth year, he and other members of his form clubbed together to buy a bottle of whisky which they brought into school and drank behind the cricket pavilion before morning assembly. ‘We bellowed “Jerusalem” with unwonted fervour,’ Farage recounted. ‘All save Winterbourne [whose] internal organs were evidently more fragile and startled than ours… To our horror, the boy turned white, clutched at his stomach, winced, lurched and collapsed like a stringless puppet.’


In the subsequent enquiry, the boys had to see the head of middle school, D. V. Knight, one by one. Farage explained how cold it had been that morning. There had been some whisky around, so he thought it a good idea to have a ‘couple of nips’ before ‘plunging into the fray’. As for who had supplied the whisky, Farage refused to say.


His classmates were horrified when they heard what he’d said. They’d denied it all. That evening, after the rest were caned one by one, Farage was last to visit Knight for punishment. Because he’d owned up, he was spared the thrashing and told to go out and ‘develop some sort of brain’.7


Similar honesty came to Farage’s rescue on a CCF field trip when, on a very hot day, he and a colleague were assigned as emergency back-up at a location right next to a welcoming pub. The result was inevitable, and on the return journey Farage and his fellow beer-drinker vomited over the seats of the coach and colleagues’ smart CCF kit. Farage claims he explained to the master in charge how they’d been unable to resist the temptation placed in their way. The master accepted their excuse and let them off. ‘Drink providently, boys,’ he advised them. ‘And do not run before you can walk, or, in your case, stagger before you can march.’8 Dangerous territory, though, for the son of an alcoholic. For a while in his mid-teens, Farage seriously considered joining the army, and even had an interview for a three-year short-service commission. He knew, however, that he’d be hopeless at obeying orders.


Although the college was only five miles from central London, it enjoyed an outer London atmosphere. ‘Dulwich had the air of a great public school,’ says one pupil who was in Farage’s year. ‘The grounds had been painted by [Camille] Pissarro [in 1871]. But it was small-minded suburban. There were more kids from small towns and villages around Kent than from central London. It was a very different population from that at Westminster or St Paul’s. It’s not the same now.’


Located so near to Westminster, it was not difficult for the college to attract top-rank politicians to speak. In 1978, the school was addressed by one of Margaret Thatcher’s closest advisers, the cerebral Sir Keith Joseph. He attacked the Callaghan Labour government, and argued that people and the market could look after themselves. ‘I had never joined anything in my life,’ Farage claims, ‘but the following day I joined my local Conservative party.’9 He was never a very active member, but celebrated the following year when Thatcher became prime minister.


The former Conservative prime minister Edward Heath visited Dulwich; and Farage also recalls assailing the new left-wing leader of the Greater London Council, Ken Livingstone. But most significant was a visit by Enoch Powell, only a few weeks before Farage left the school in 1982. Powell had been a long-standing opponent of Britain joining the European Community in 1973, but was probably even better known for public opposition to non-white immigration, as exemplified by his notorious Rivers of Blood speech in 1968. Powell ‘dazzled me for once into awestruck silence’, Farage later said. He instantly became one of Farage’s great political heroes.10


In his memoirs, Farage has described how he, too, loved championing unfashionable causes, and challenging conventional wisdom:




Whenever I encountered interventionist authority, I was at the forefront of the dissidents. Whenever I encountered unthinking acceptance of doctrine, whether about the news or history, I challenged it fiercely. Whatever my own views, I would champion any neglected damsel in distress amongst ideas against the dragons of prejudice. I fought fiercely for anarchy, CND doves and warmongering hawks, Christianity, atheists, the pro- and anti-abortion (NOT pro-choice and pro-life) factions, feminism, chauvinism…


This was not mere puppy play-fighting. I had discovered in myself a passionate loathing for received opinion.11





Farage was confirmed in the Church of England when he was thirteen – ‘a voluntary thing’ – but slowly lost his faith: ‘I think by the time I was eighteen I was pretty much a non-believer.’12


Then he claims that one lunchtime, aged fourteen, he discovered in the college library John Stuart Mill’s great work On Liberty, and this passage in particular:




The only purpose for which power can be rightfully exercised over any member of a civilised community, against his will, is to prevent harm to others. His own good, either physical or moral, is not a sufficient warrant… Over himself, over his own body and mind, the individual is sovereign.13





‘These instantly became sacred words,’ Farage has said (in a very rare reference to reading any book). ‘Self-determination,’ he says, ‘remains at the heart of my moral beliefs and was to become the core principle of my politics.’14


In his later years, around the age of sixteen, the spitting, yobbish Farage of the Bromley train developed into a smart, well-dressed figure – a ‘dandy’ almost, in the style of his father Guy, at a time when the ITV series Brideshead Revisited and the film Chariots of Fire had come to influence public school culture. One account has Farage hiding his box of snuff from teachers, and walking round with an old-fashioned cane. Another recollects him carrying round a rolled-up umbrella ‘like he’d just stepped out of the stockbrokers’.15


‘He suddenly started wearing a striped blazer and wearing a boater,’ says a third classmate. ‘I just thought it was very strange. Why would he become this very public schoolboy – round about our O-level time? I didn’t get it, didn’t understand what made him change. He went from being messy, tie down and scuffed shoes to suddenly the model of looking like he went to Eton. He put “blakeys” [steel heel protectors] on his shoes – they made you click as you walked. It seemed to be an overnight transformation from being one of the naughty boys.’ Indeed, Farage seemed almost to go in the reverse direction to his contemporaries. ‘The rest of us, becoming teenagers, would slightly adapt our uniform. We’d turn our ties round to make them really thin, carrying army bags rather than briefcases, and he went totally the opposite way, and we all just thought “What’s he doing?” ’


Another Old Alleynian says:




People generally wore black jackets and occasionally blue blazers, particularly in summer, and didn’t take trouble with their appearance, but Nigel Farage was rather distinctive. He wore a dark blue double-breasted blazer that was extremely smart and very well fitting and obviously expensive, and immaculately pressed trousers, and his black shoes were always very highly polished. He most reminded me of the Secretary of an upmarket golf club – that kind of official air. But the most distinctive thing, to top it all off, he had a rose in his buttonhole. Even then he gave off the air of someone of 17 or 18 going on 40 or 50. He was very mature.





The same Old Boy recalls playing rugby with Farage on a ‘wet and muddy winter’s day’ in a house match, ‘and we were all dishevelled at the end of the game but Farage, his kit was as clean at the end as it was at the beginning. You wouldn’t have guessed he’d been playing in a match – he must have been standing by the edge most of the time. There were 29 very dirty boys, and Nigel Farage.’


A senior boy who helped out in the school library also remembers a boorish arrogance about him:




I was on the front desk stamping people’s books in and out and telling people to be quiet, and Farage came in and started just being a bit loud and noisy, and refused to be quiet, with a kind of, ‘What are you going to do about it, then?’ attitude. I seem to remember he was wearing a Union Jack handkerchief as well, and at the time I thought ‘What an idiot!’ I got the impression he was trying to draw a bit of attention to himself, just enjoying sticking two fingers up at the rules, and of course 40 years on I see the same behaviour. Sometimes I wonder if it’s provocation for provocation’s sake.





As Farage got older so his rebellious streak grew. ‘I always questioned authority,’ he says. ‘I suppose I was a bit of a wind-up merchant, really.’16


Despite all this, in the spring of 1981, not long after Farage’s seventeenth birthday, David Emms, the Master of Dulwich College – the school’s traditional name for the head teacher – appointed him a prefect for his final year.


The decision caused uproar among the teachers. In the teaching body – known as the Common Room – Farage’s appointment was debated at length in the annual gathering to discuss the proposed new prefects. ‘The meeting became enormously heated,’ former English master Bob Jope has recalled. ‘A significant number of staff, young and old, from various departments, expressed concern at Nigel Farage being made a prefect… The accusation from some staff was that Nigel had voiced views that were not simply right-wing, but views that were racist… not the views that a school should tolerate.’17


Allies of Farage say that Jope’s criticism stemmed from his personal left-leaning outlook. He was a ‘lovable hippy type, a crusty of his time’, one old boy recalls, and Jope sang in a teachers’ rock band called Breaking Class, which performed occasionally at school. ‘He was a cool teacher, and we all liked him,’ remembers another old boy. ‘He sounded like Elvis, but sang Bob Dylan.’18 Indeed, Jope was undoubtedly one of those whom Farage meant by the ‘Bob Dylan set’ among the Dulwich staff.19


Yet it wasn’t Bob Jope who led the protests about Farage’s promotion, but Chloe Deakin, an even younger, female colleague in the English department. She was so shocked by what she’d heard that when it was clear that the Master was pressing ahead with Farage’s appointment regardless, she wrote the following letter to David Emms:




Dear Master


I am happy to say that I am not acquainted with NP Farage… – happy, because judging from the reports I have received he is not someone with whom I would wish to be acquainted…


You will recall that at the recent, and lengthy, meeting about the selection of prefects, the remark by a colleague that Farage was a ‘fascist, but that was no reason why he would not make a good prefect’ invoked considerable reaction from members of the Common Room. Another colleague, who teaches the boy, described his publicly professed racist and neo-fascist views; and he cited a particular incident in which Farage was so offensive to a boy in his set, that he had to be removed from the lesson. This master stated his view that that behaviour was precisely why the boy should not be made a prefect. Yet another colleague described how, at a CCF camp organised by the College, Farage and others had marched through a quiet Sussex village very late at night shouting Hitler youth songs; and when it was suggested by a master that boys who expressed such views ‘don’t really mean them’, the College chaplain himself commented that, on the contrary, in his experience views of that kind expressed by boys of that age are deep-seated, and are meant.


At the end of that meeting I had not a scintilla of doubt that after the facts disclosed to you, Farage’s nomination would no longer be considered. Nor, I imagine, had my colleagues: otherwise, we would have expressed ourselves even more strongly.


But yesterday I was told by a senior boy, in terms of disgust, that Farage was indeed to be selected; and today, of course, his appointment was announced in Assembly – an announcement, I gather, which was met with disbelief and derision. To say that it is too late to reverse this decision, or that Farage’s activities will be restricted to particular areas of College life, or that he will be supervised within them, is futile…


You will appreciate that I regard this as a very serious matter. I have often heard you tell our senior boys that they are the nation’s future leaders. It is our collective responsibility to ensure that these leaders are enlightened and compassionate. As you know, the national and educational press has recently given much prominence to the growing concern at the exploitation of school pupils by extremists of all kinds. A school of the stature and high reputation of Dulwich College which openly condemned the recent troubles in Brixton, and offered its facilities freely to the forces of law and order, ought not to be seen inside or outside its confines to be giving its endorsement, expressly or by implication, to budding extremists of the opposite kind.


I am by disposition, tolerant; and in politics, moderate. But as a member of the Common Room, I find it distasteful that a boy such as Farage should have bestowed upon him the prestige of office and authority: were I a parent or a pupil, I would find it profoundly so.


In view, as I am aware, of the wide concern within the College about this matter, I am sending a copy of this letter to the chairman of the Common Room.


Yours very sincerely,


Chloe Deakin20





It was a very strong letter, and brave of Chloe Deakin to challenge the Master’s decision, especially when she was only twenty-four and had only been teaching for a couple of years. And Deakin was rather different from some English teachers at the school, not easy to dismiss as trendy or left-leaning. Neat and elegantly dressed, Deakin lived with her fiancé in Albany, the exclusive mansion block off London’s Piccadilly. She later left teaching to become a senior civil servant in the Education Department.


Her letter made no difference. David Emms stuck to his decision. ‘I was responsible for his salvation,’ Emms told me in 2013, when extracts from Deakin’s letter were first revealed on Channel 4.




I saw potential in him. I thought of him as a naughty boy who had got up the noses of the teaching staff for reasons that are his chirpiness and cheekiness. They wanted to expel him. I think it was naughtiness rather than racism. I saw good in him and he responded to being made a prefect. I saw considerable potential in this chap and I was proved right.21





Emms died in 2015. His deputy Terry Walsh, who has also since died, told me that Farage liked to provoke left-wing teachers. Walsh agreed that Farage might sometimes express support for the National Front, or the even more extreme neo-Nazi British Movement, ‘among his contemporaries, and probably to some members of staff, because he knew it would rile them’.




Like most schools there was quite a strong left-wing element among the staff… I think at times he adopted a sort of façade… You know: ‘If you think I’m that sort of chap, then I am that sort of chap,’ and so on. But I don’t think he ever, ever believed that. You know, he was too caring and considerate of other people.





It was merely ‘a joke’, Walsh recalled, and claimed to have said so back in 1981. ‘Like a lot of those people, they didn’t have a sense of humour. You can’t deal with the Farages of this world if you haven’t got a sense of humour, or a sense of the ridiculous.’22


In Fighting Bull, published before the Deakin letter became public, Farage said the ‘outrage’ among some staff was because they ‘particularly deplored my spirited defence of Enoch Powell’.23 When the Channel 4 film was broadcast, Farage dismissed the accusation about Hitler youth songs as ‘completely silly’. He didn’t know ‘the words’ of such songs, he said. As for racist remarks: ‘Yes, of course, I said some ridiculous things… not necessarily racist things… it depends how you define it.’ Yes, he had been excluded from class ‘dozens of times’ and, he said, he might simply have been winding up his critics. ‘Was I a difficult, bolshie teenager who pushed the boundaries of debate further than perhaps I ought to have done? Yes… Have I ever been a member of any extremist organisation, left or right? No.’24


Many of Nigel Farage’s contemporaries concur that he was simply a Conservative right-winger, an admirer of Margaret Thatcher, Enoch Powell and Keith Joseph. But there are several people whose memories go well beyond that. They accuse Farage of being significantly racist or anti-Semitic, particularly in his early years at Dulwich.


One Jewish pupil recalls a climate in which it wasn’t unusual to hear anti-Semitic or racist comments in school. ‘I got it,’ he says. ‘Kids from India or Pakistan got it.’ He specifically remembers how Farage would sidle up to him and say, ‘Hitler was right’, or ‘Gas ’em’ – in obvious reference to the Nazi concentration camps. ‘I think I felt my tactic was to affect not to care, and to keep my head down, and show that it hadn’t got to me.’


This Jewish contemporary remembers Farage explaining how his name was originally Huguenot:




And I remember saying to him afterwards: ‘So you are also from a family who came to this country under threat of genocide? That’s interesting.’ And he said: ‘Yes.’ And I said: ‘Isn’t your attitude to Jews and Blacks out of kilter?’ And he said: ‘I suppose so.’ He was quite capable of being reflective, and intelligent and quite charming. And you see that now, absolutely.





The boy had relatives who were murdered in the Holocaust. He ‘despised’ Farage, he says, but he ‘never entirely hated him’ as a person. ‘I was thirteen at the time, and we went our separate ways, and I just avoided him thereafter.’ And Farage didn’t seem that threatening because he carried out the abuse on his own.




I didn’t feel bullied, and I might have done if he had acolytes bearing down on me as a group. Of course, he was provocative. He was provocative to everyone – he was eccentric. But he had no clique; he wasn’t a classic bully with his gang. He was very much a loner. I kind of thought he was slightly mad, a nutter, as David Cameron later said, or a ‘fruit-cake’.





Strangely, more than forty years on, he now feels more strongly about what happened than he did at the time. Revisiting the experience recently ‘made me realise quite how much I’d bottled up’. His memories of Dulwich College are quite ‘foggy’, but not what Farage said to him. ‘Those words, that voice, retain an icy clarity to this day – in part I guess due to his ubiquity in the UK media.’


In 2019, the website of the former Independent newspaper published an anonymous article from a Dulwich Old Boy who spoke in similar vein. It was in the form of a letter addressed to Nigel Farage. The former Dulwich pupil claimed that he and Farage had been ‘close friends’, and that he’d once stayed at Farage’s home, where ‘your mother did do a fantastic great British breakfast for us’. And he added: ‘I remember the way you enchanted people at school, senior teachers and fellow pupils alike. Your English project on fishing enthralled everyone.’


Yet the anonymous correspondent also recalled the ‘keen interest’ Farage had in the fact that the initials of his name – NF – were the same as the National Front, and how he doodled on his school books with the NF’s symbol (which involved the ‘N’ and ‘F’ merged together). ‘Nigel Farage, NF, National Front. I remember watching you draw it,’ he told Farage. ‘Just a laugh, eh, Nigel?’ The letter writer remembers Farage frequently crying ‘Send ’em home’, his citing the name of the former British fascist leader Oswald Mosley, and singing a song which went ‘gas them all, gas ’em all, gas them all’, to the chorus of the wartime song ‘Bless ’em all’ made famous by George Formby.


‘I can’t forget the words,’ the anonymous letter writer told Farage, but they were so ‘vile’ that ‘I can’t bring myself to write the rest of it’. It would be easy to dismiss this ‘letter’ as a political opponent attacking Farage under cover of anonymity. Yet the writer said he was a ‘51 per cent reluctant Remainer’ who had thought Farage had been ‘absolutely right to challenge the EU’ robustly, and he had thought ‘Good on Nigel’ in the past for the amusement provided by Farage’s speeches in the European Parliament.25


Bob Jope thinks he was probably the master referred to in the second pararaph of Chloe Deakin’s letter, who threw Farage out of class for yelling ‘anti-Semitic abuse’. ‘I can see the room in my mind’s eye,’ says Jope. ‘English area, downstairs, year 11 (as we’d now say): “Shut up, you Jew!” I forget what prompted him: I guess he wanted to be thrown out – the only occasion in my teaching career that I did that, I think.’26 The Jewish victim of the abuse is thought to have been Peter Ettedgui, who says that around the age of thirteen and fourteen he did suffer ‘frequent anti-Semitic verbal abuse by Farage’.27


‘He was seventeen, going on sixty,’ another contemporary, Nick Gordon Brown, has said. ‘He looked like a middle-aged man when he was a sixth-former. He was a very vocal National Front supporter. There was no hiding it at all. He always referred to “our black and brown friends”. He used to talk about voluntary repatriation. He saw me as someone he wanted to provoke… There was a Jewish lad at school whom he was horrible to. With Jewish schoolmates, he made no secret of his distaste for them. What you see now, is what he was like then.’28


‘He was a deeply unembarrassed racist,’ says David Edmonds, who was in the same class as Farage when they were about fifteen. ‘He used words like “wogs” and “Pakis”. He didn’t like Jews very much and came out with the usual anti-Semitic tropes. We could never be friends, but although I am Jewish – and this may seem odd, and I would feel very differently today – I didn’t dislike him. He relished rubbing people up the wrong way. But I think that his far-right politics, his racism and English nationalism were also quite firmly ingrained. He had the sense that England was being destroyed by waves of immigrants. I think his main racist feelings were against what he called “wogs” – Blacks. The idea that he wasn’t a racist is 100 per cent incorrect. He was a racist. Wherever you draw the line, by whatever definition, he was a racist.’29


Tim France says Farage openly ‘supported the British Movement [BM]’, the extremist group which later called itself the British National Socialist Movement. He recalls Farage as ‘very vocal’, how he chanted ‘BM, BM. We are British Nazi men’, and how he even did Nazi salutes. France also remembers a repetitive chant similar to the song mentioned by the anonymous letter writer: ‘gas them all, gas ‘em all, gas them all.’ ‘He just used to go round chanting that. He consciously and vocally positioned himself as a very extreme right-winger. This was when he was eighteen.’30


But the picture is confused. Old Boys from his time probably divide fairly equally. For everyone who recalls Farage voicing extreme views, another will say they heard nothing untoward. ‘I would never have said he said anything racist or insulting to people,’ says Jonathan Mayne. ‘He was larger than life and also quite self-deprecating in his humour. I don’t think he was seen to be malicious. He was unconventional. He said things that were not everyone’s cup of tea.’31


Nor does Jon Benjamin think Farage was anti-Semitic. ‘Being Jewish, I think I’d remember that.’32 Ian Oakley Smith says, ‘Nigel’s views at the time wouldn’t be exceptional, so they probably didn’t stand out as much as they would today.’33


Nigel Farage responded to these allegations of racism and anti-Semitism:




Let’s get one thing straight. I joined the Conservative party in 1978, and thought all of the far right parties/movements to be ludicrous/barmy/dangerous. There were some hard left class-of-1968 masters [who] joined the College and several of us thoroughly enjoyed winding them up. Terms of abuse thrown around between fifteen-year-olds were limitless; there were no boundaries. I think red-haired boys fared especially badly.34





Despite his own record as a miscreant, Farage actually thought Dulwich should be tougher on boys who misbehaved. This was an era when corporal punishment was still legal, though the cane was rarely applied at Dulwich. Fellow prefect Roger Gough, who is now Conservative leader of Kent County Council, recalls one of the get-togethers which the Master held with the prefects every year. Once David Emms had delivered his address, he called for questions. ‘Nigel sort of sprang to attention,’ Gough says, ‘heels clicked, back straight, and said: “Sir, there is a growing problem with indiscipline within the school. We should use the cane more.” And David Emms said: “I’m not sure where it is, actually.” And Terry Walsh, the chain-smoking deputy Master and head of the cadet force said: “I’ve got about six of them in my study!” The rising tide of anarchy wasn’t evident to the rest of us. It’s almost a measure – like all things with Nigel – of how much of it was an act.’35


Farage’s promotion to be a prefect partly stemmed from his success at golf. Back in Downe, he and his brother Andrew often worked in the shop at the golf course on Saturday mornings, then played in the afternoon. Meanwhile, Nigel was picked for the three-man Dulwich team who in 1981 reached the finals of the national Schools Golf Championship in Surrey. They finished equal ninth overall in a contest held in terrible conditions which had to be reduced to nine holes. ‘We owe our fairly high position,’ the college magazine reported, ‘to the excellent performance of Nigel Farage who, had he not faltered at the last, could so easily have won the individual prize.’36 Farage needed a par four on the last hole, only for the wind to carry his ball up away into the scrub, and he needed six strokes to complete the hole. The individual prize would have been worth winning, for traditionally it entailed a golf scholarship to Arizona College in America.


Farage also took part in an initiative to encourage boys to take more interest in financial matters. The Investment Society required boys to decide which public companies were worth backing, and then small blocks of shares were bought and sold on the stock market. The trading was carried out by Farage’s father Guy, through his City firm.


As Farage neared the end of his time at Dulwich, most of his contemporaries were planning to go to university, and many were about to take Oxbridge entrance exams, at a time when around a third of the Dulwich sixth form ended up at Oxford or Cambridge. Nigel’s mother Barbara feared the thought of him following his father into the City, and urged him to consider university too. He would make an excellent barrister; the bar could be well paid, she suggested, and left open the possibility of other careers, such as politics.


Farage was certainly clever enough to go to university. ‘He didn’t work very hard, frankly – like a lot of boys of seventeen,’ says one former master who taught him in the sixth form. He estimates Farage was in the third quartile at the school academically, but then Dulwich was extremely selective in its intake. Farage was adamant, however, that higher education wasn’t for him. He’d decided that after A levels at eighteen he wanted to follow his father into the City of London, and make lots of money. Even at school he’d shown business acumen – by running a shoe-shining business. ‘He paid the juniors to clean shoes,’ says classmate Nick Owen, ‘and then skimmed a commission off the top.’37 ‘There were… one or two rackets going on,’ Farage once said.38 Another business involved buying and selling physical silver, at a time when the price was soaring.


In those days, quite a few Dulwich boys skipped university and headed straight for the Square Mile. ‘I couldn’t wait to get cracking,’ Farage once said. ‘I don’t want to be a scruffy student’, he thought. ‘I want to be out there.’39


The former Labour transport secretary Lord (Andrew) Adonis recalls being guest of honour at a Dulwich speech day when he was schools minister in the Blair/Brown government. As Adonis spoke, he spotted Farage in the front row, and later learned he was there to watch his son Sam receive a rugby prize. Afterwards the two politicians spent a long time chatting, even though their politics could hardly be more different. Adonis was struck by how Dulwich College took ‘an odd pride’ in the fact that Farage took them so seriously. ‘It shows a very upper middle-class and middle-class Englishness,’ Adonis says, ‘and tells you how good he is at getting on with these people when he’s plotting their downfall.’40


At one Dulwich event, around 2009, the former Master David Emms would delight Farage by quietly confessing that he’d voted for him in the recent European elections.


‘Life at the school will not be the same without him,’ Emms had apparently written in Farage’s report the summer he left.41


Nigel Farage got A levels in economics, geography and history, but his fairly mediocre grades didn’t matter much since he wasn’t applying to university. A contemporary recalls how at that year’s leavers’ event, held on 12 July 1982 – the Twelfth in Northern Ireland, or Orangemen’s Day – Farage was as flamboyant and provocative as ever. He turned up with an orange rose in his buttonhole.


Teacher Neil Fairlamb says he told his pupil on the day of his departure in 1982: ‘Nigel, I have a feeling you will go far in life, but whether in fame or infamy, I don’t really know.’ Fairlamb adds that Farage looked back at him and replied: ‘Sir, as long as it’s far, I don’t care which.’42










3 CITY TRADER



A ‘yuppie’ – that’s what Nigel Farage said he wanted to be – the 1980s term for young, upwardly mobile professionals who came to symbolise the Thatcher era. ‘I was fiercely ambitious when I was 18,’ Farage later said. ‘Fiercely ambitious. And that ambition was to succeed in business and make a lot of money.’1 And for him the City was the obvious route.


He didn’t fancy the Stock Exchange, however. His father was too well known there, and he didn’t like the idea of people thinking he’d exploited the family connection. A solution arose one weekend just before Christmas 1980 while playing at West Kent Golf Club. Between holes, Farage explained his City ambitions to Bob McPhie, one of the older members with whom he was playing – a Scot who was then in his late fifties. They continued the conversation over a few beers back at the clubhouse.


Farage hardly knew McPhie, though he’d frequently seen him around the club. The older man explained how he was managing director of Maclaine Watson & Co., a firm on the London Metal Exchange (LME). It might be the sort of thing Nigel was looking for. Perhaps he would like to come and visit the business in a week or two.


Farage researched the background. Maclaine Watson & Co., he would have discovered, was among the last remnants of a trading firm which had been founded by two Britons in 1827 on the island of Java, then one of the Dutch colonies in the Far East. From cotton, coffee and opium, the firm had expanded into other commodities across the Far East and had become one of Asia’s biggest trading companies.


One morning around the start of 1981, Farage got up early, put on his suit and polished brogues and took the train to London Bridge. His day with Maclaine Watson was a great success, and Bob McPhie suggested that a job would be available once Farage had completed his A levels. Naturally, he accepted the offer.


The London Metal Exchange was – and still is – a global institution. It was founded in 1877, but the market dates back 300 years before that when trading was conducted in London coffee houses. The LME’s job is to oversee and regulate the fluctuating and risky worldwide industrial markets in several non-ferrous metals – copper, lead, zinc, aluminium and nickel, at the time Farage joined Maclaine Watson in 1982. Subsequently tin, aluminium alloys, steel and cobalt were added to the list.


The most visible part of the Exchange is The Ring, with its ‘open-outcry’ trading. With phones pressed to their ears – often both ears – traders sit or stand round a circle of padded benches shouting out prices and details of what they want to buy and sell, or making tic-tac signals with their fingers. The Ring – said to be the last exchange in Europe where ‘open-outcry’ trading still occurs – is surrounded by traders’ booths, with large electronic boards above them showing the latest prices. It operates from 11.40 a.m. to 5 p.m. each day, in five-minute trading spells. But business in The Ring is now a relatively small part of the twenty-four-hour electronic trading which LME members carry on away from the floor.


Some LME business is for immediate delivery, but much of it is in futures – officially for delivery in three months’ time, a period chosen back in 1877, when it took that long for ships to transport copper from ports in Chile to London. It’s now about securing the price in advance of physical need for the client so they can plan ahead. And the LME owns a network of approved warehouses around the world where the metals can be delivered or collected.


Having passed his A levels, Farage took the summer off to play golf and go fishing – a lifelong passion. He joined Maclaine Watson on 1 September 1982 at their offices in Old Broad Street, where the firm had its own trading room. The City of London, like several other great British institutions – such as horse racing, the army and boxing – was a successful mixture of upper-class public schoolboys and working-class barrow boys.


Farage found it to be:




a mixture of an old gentlemen’s club and very aggressive young men; the Green Suit Brigade with white socks who lived in places such as Basildon and Southend – ‘Sarf End’, as they would say. It was a cross-section of different parts of society… But the vast majority of the men on the trading floor (they were exclusively men in 1982) were from the Essex Marshes. I liked the mix in the City – nobody cared how posh or how rough you were; you were rated on how much money you could make.2





Farage, unlike many middle-class people, has always felt very comfortable with people from other classes. And his time in the City helped develop his skills in communicating with people of all backgrounds and nationalities. He started work in the Square Mile at a historic time. It was the end of an era – many City institutions and practices hadn’t changed since the nineteenth century. ‘It was the dying days of a gentlemen’s club,’ he recalled in 2011, ‘magnificent, socially wonderful but going nowhere – there was still a whiff of P. G. Wodehouse about people who toddled off to the City all day and did things that nobody understood at all.’3


A huge change had been heralded in October 1979 with Margaret Thatcher’s decision to abolish exchange controls on foreign currency transactions. This not only greatly reduced the government’s ability to run the economy but also paved the way for a global economy. Hundreds of staff at the Bank of England lost their jobs but the rest of the City prospered greatly from the decision.


Maclaine Watson had enjoyed membership of the LME for decades, though by 1982 it was no longer independent, having just been taken over by the highly aggressive American investment bank Drexel Burnham Lambert. Later that decade, Drexel would achieve notoriety and bankruptcy through scandals involving the junk bond trader Michael Milken, the model for Gordon Gekko in Oliver Stone’s 1987 film Wall Street.


At first, Farage was allowed none of the excitement of high-adrenaline commodities trading. He was confined to a backroom office with the tedious task of processing paperwork for transactions agreed by colleagues. He was paid £4,000 a year, with a bonus at the end of his first twelve months of £300. ‘I was very chuffed,’ he says.4 And he got his bonus, despite one day losing a silver warrant worth £90,000, ‘which was never found despite a thorough ransacking of the building’.5


It wasn’t long, however, before Farage became a trader. ‘The pressure of being a market-maker in a busy market,’ he once said, ‘when you’ve got people all around you screaming and shouting at you, and you’re dealing in numbers, and it’s like that, that, that, that – that’s pretty pressurised. That’s why it’s a young man’s job. You don’t get many fifty-year-old money-brokers: they can’t do it anymore.’6 ‘When it was busy, my goodness me, it was busy. You can’t imagine the pressure,’ he has also said.7


‘At the age of eighteen,’ he later wrote, ‘I was handling millions, and drinking more or less continuously… throughout the day and night, but youth and adrenaline sustained me.’8


Judge the market right and the profits could be huge; read it incorrectly and his firm would have suffered big losses. ‘It taught you how to really hold your nerve, as well as admit when you had messed up. They were lessons that I would need for a career in politics.’9 The City in the 1980s may have been ‘enormous fun’, but sometimes if you lost money ‘you were out of the door’, Farage once explained. ‘I’ve seen people asked to leave the office immediately. And don’t tell me that we were earning a lot of money for doing nothing!’10


‘The good old days,’ says trader Steven Spencer, who dealt with Farage at that time and got to know him well.




It was great fun. The brokers made money. The world was happy. Regulation hadn’t started yet. It was free. It was the Wild West. We had the best time of our careers from the late ’70s to the early ’90s. There was a lot of money to be made, with deals to be done everywhere and it was highly competitive. Some of the best brains in the City were working at the Metal Exchange.11





The prospect of becoming rich was one reason Farage found the City attractive; the other was the lifestyle – one which had almost destroyed his father. And Nigel Farage’s first five years in the City seem to have been one long party. After an early start, the commodities traders would work hard all morning, then often enjoy a long, alcohol-fuelled lunch.


The favourite venue was the eighteenth-century Simpson’s Tavern, in Ball Court, a narrow alleyway off Cornhill, which served traditional steaks and chops, and spotted dick for pudding, and which boasts of being ‘the oldest chophouse in London’. When he takes journalists back to his old City haunts, Farage loves showing them an even older watering hole only a few yards away in St Michael’s Alley. The front steps of the Jamaica Wine House have been worn by the centuries: the very first coffee house in London, dating from 1652, it was mentioned by Pepys.


Other favourites were another ancient institution, Sweetings, a fish restaurant on Queen Victoria Street. If trading was busy and he was pressed for time, he’d enjoy a couple of pints of Young’s and a beef roll in the fourteenth-century Lamb Tavern by the cobblestones of the indoor Leadenhall Market. Both also served up very traditional British food, and plenty of it.


In the 1980s the City of London, like Fleet Street and broadcasting, was awash with alcohol. As a result, Farage has often said, huge, costly mistakes were often made in trades struck after lunch, when a zero might be left off or added, a purchase mixed up with a sale, or someone might buy the wrong metal. Yet the errors weren’t always punished. It could be ‘chaos’ in the afternoons. ‘I remember once there was a really big cock-up,’ Farage has recalled. ‘I remember the boss saying, “So when did this happen?” “Half-past four yesterday afternoon.” “Oh well, there we are then.” The boss accepted this!’12


‘It was unbelievable,’ Farage said in 2012. ‘The booze culture was mega. The drugs culture was huge. I left the drugs culture alone completely, thank goodness… If I had smoked cannabis I probably would have done it to excess. There was enough trouble with the booze culture, and I am one of the lucky ones. Because I really enjoy going for a drink, but I don’t need it.’13


He’d seen with his father, drink can be very dangerous, as he acknowledged some years ago: ‘Some people who go through that lifestyle are lucky and some are desperately unlucky, and you never know which you’re going to be. Lots of people who were my drinking mates in the City have been through the most disastrous downward spirals, and a lot of them are dead… I lived through all of that and I’m very candid: I say I am lucky. I am lucky.’14 Surprisingly, what he consumed most was port, a drink associated with eighteenth-century London, gout and after-dinner cigars. ‘We’d all go back to work, all crimson,’ he told the FT in 2016. ‘That’s just what we did! No one cared. I don’t drink port at all now, ever.’15


The culture was very male and testosterone-driven – ‘laddish’ would be the word now – and would today be considered very politically incorrect, as he would later admit:




I liked girls – the wicked and the tiny variety – but as extra-curricular diversions… Somewhere at the back of my mind was the awareness that one day I would want children and a country house, and that a woman would presumably be necessary for both, but my idea of fun was trading, drinking and trading some more. I wanted life to be one long boys’ club jamboree with occasional bouts of conkers on the Exchange.


I was, in short, a puerile sexist in a puerile sexist world.16





Racism and bullying were also rife. ‘There were elements of crudeness in the City,’ Farage has admitted, in ‘language and behaviour’ and ‘things we said and did then… values change’. People were ‘routinely abused’, he says, in every way, including racially. ‘That was the culture,’ he admits, without condoning what happened.17


These were heady days. Electronic trading was transforming and globalising world markets, and the Thatcher government would famously deregulate the City with the so-called Big Bang in 1986. Long-standing rules were overturned; restrictions lifted on who was allowed to buy and sell what. Sleepy, old-fashioned, gentlemanly British firms were suddenly taken over by brash American institutions, or by European banks. ‘You’ve ruined the best gentlemen’s club in the world,’ Guy Farage reportedly told Sir Nicholas Goodison, the then-chairman of the Stock Exchange, when he bumped into him one day in a lift.18


Yet young men in their twenties were suddenly making huge sums, as parodied by Harry Enfield’s 1980s character Loadsamoney. Farage wanted his share of this revolution. ‘It was just the most incredibly exciting period of time,’ he says. ‘And the pop stars even dressed like City brokers. I absolutely loved it.’19


The Big Bang saw the City cement its place as the world’s foremost financial capital, ideally placed in terms of time zones between the markets of the Far East and the East Coast of America. Yet surprisingly perhaps, for someone committed to free-market capitalism, Farage is ambivalent about the 1980s financial revolution. On the one hand he said in 2011 that ‘what I saw in the Eighties and Nineties was London becoming in many ways a genuine global centre for entrepreneurial flair, for innovation, for very hard work – and for creating profits’.20 Yet he’s also admitted that the Big Bang did not change the City for the better. It gave huge power to big overseas banks, most of them American. And ultimately the City would be increasingly subject to regulation by the European Community (or the European Union as it became in 1993).


In addition, the 1986 Financial Services Act which accompanied the Big Bang brought new regulators in the form of the Securities and Investments Board (later the Financial Services Authority). ‘But the vast majority of those regulators (God, I hate those people) had failed in the City – they frankly did not understand what bankers and brokers were up to,’ Farage says. ‘The new culture beckoned in massive banks that dominated the market place, and hapless regulators simply couldn’t see the wood for the trees.’21


Farage claims that by 1985 – when he was twenty-one – he was earning £20,000 a year, about £55,000 today. But his blossoming career was suddenly interrupted one night in November when he arrived back at Orpington station. It was late, as usual. He’d enjoyed a long lunch at an Indian restaurant that day, and then spent the evening arguing in the pub about the new Anglo-Irish Agreement which Margaret Thatcher had just signed. Farage felt it was a betrayal of the Unionists in the North.


It was a wet autumn evening. Farage lit a cigarette and walked along to the pelican crossing. ‘I grasped the lamp’s stalk and swung myself into the street,’ he wrote in his memoirs. ‘I remember nothing more.’22 A Volkswagen Beetle braked, but it was too late. The car hit Farage and he was thrown into the air, over the vehicle and onto the kerb. He landed on his head and woke up in Bromley General Hospital with head injuries and his left leg suspended in traction. He might lose the lower leg, Farage was warned, and he would spend two months in hospital. His left leg recovered, though with a large lump of bone always sticking out, and thereafter Farage also suffered tinnitus, the condition whereby one hears ringing or noises in the ears.


It was during those two months that Farage met Clare Hayes, one of the nurses looking after him. A few months older than him, Clare had been born in Chatham in Kent, where her father worked as a charge nurse, and was actually christened Gráinne, indicative of her family’s Irish roots. It undoubtedly helped their relationship that when Farage returned to work his leg remained in plaster for almost a year, so he couldn’t resume his former lifestyle. There was no late-night drinking, and no commuting by train. His brother Andrew (now also working in town) drove Nigel to and from London each day in his Citroën 2CV, which gave Nigel more time with his new girlfriend. ‘She was a great girl who was to make me happy for several years,’ Farage has written. But he admits he was still ‘immature’, and ‘unfit for marriage and would surely never have considered it had it not been for my brush with death’.23


Then, remarkably, came his second brush within a year. In the Queen’s Head in Downe the following Boxing Day, Farage had ordered his customary pint only to be struck suddenly by an excruciating pain on his left side; it shot from near his kidney, through his stomach and into his groin.


Farage endured two days of pain before realising something was seriously wrong. Back at Bromley Hospital, doctors concluded that he had testicular torsion, whereby the spermatic cord twists and cuts off the blood supply to the testicle. It’s treated by untwisting the testicle, followed by surgery. But just as Farage was about to be taken into the operating theatre at nearby Farnborough Hospital, a doctor challenged the diagnosis. It was merely an infection, he said. There was no need for an operation; it could be treated with antibiotics.


Yet the pain persisted. Farage’s testicle swelled bigger than a lemon and grew harder, and Farage found it hard to walk or go into work. His GP referred him to a consultant who merely prescribed more antibiotics. Farage was very distressed, but his boss at Maclaine Watson advised he could get a second opinion via the firm’s health insurance scheme. A private GP immediately recommended he see the Harley Street groin specialist Jerry Gilmore, who arranged an ultrasound scan. ‘Oh, Mr Farage,’ Gilmore announced afterwards, ‘I do hope you’re not planning to go anywhere too quickly…’24


Testicular cancer sounds grim, but nineteen out of twenty men survive it. However, Farage’s left testicle would have to be removed, in an operation at Princess Grace Hospital in Marylebone. ‘I didn’t need two,’ he wrote later in Fighting Bull, ‘but I had quite liked the sense of security which the extra one had provided… Nonetheless, when they offered me an artificial one to supply me with greater social confidence, I refused.’25 But removing the testicle wasn’t the end of his troubles.


Jerry Gilmore told Farage that, as a result of the blood tests, ‘it was almost inconceivable that I would not have secondary tumours in my stomach and lungs. I was terrified.’ He thought he was being told he was ‘almost certainly riddled with cancerous tumours’. He would need a full CAT scan.


For forty-eight hours, Farage feared the worst – that at twenty-two his life would end before it had barely started. ‘It was a horrendous experience,’ Farage once said. ‘There was an overwhelming feeling of it being so unfair. I hadn’t done any of the things I had wanted to do. Those two days were like torture.’


Eventually, his oncologist turned up in Farage’s room to find him smoking, drinking ‘a glass of something’ and on the phone placing bets as he watched the racing on TV. He brought good news. The cancer hadn’t spread:




And he came in and sort of stared at me, and he said, ‘Well, Mr Farage, after an experience like this, many of my patients spend the rest of their life drinking carrot juice, and some go the other way. And I suspect you’re a member of the latter category.’ He grins at me and lets out his surprisingly endearing laugh, a sort of spluttering hiss that sounds like a steam train leaving the station.26





Instead of a course of highly unpleasant chemotherapy, Farage would have to attend London Bridge Hospital twice a week for blood tests, which was ‘psychologically worse’.27 If his protein count rose, he would have to have chemotherapy after all. All went well. The tests became less frequent, and the cancer didn’t return, and having only one testicle made no difference. ‘He just couldn’t get over the fact that he was able to have children,’ his mother Barbara told a TV audience thirty years later.28


For the biographer searching for what fired Nigel Farage’s rockets and propelled him into politics, it was probably these two occasions, a few months apart, when he stared death in the face. ‘No one who’s been through what I went through could ever say that it is out of their mind totally. I’m very much a fatalist. Life’s for the living. You’ve got to follow your heart and I won’t pretend that didn’t shape my decision to leave business and enter politics.’29


Nigel and Clare bought a small, modern, two-bedroom terraced house in Farnborough, three miles from Downe, and married in July 1988. Their first son, Sam, was born the following January, and a second, Tom, at the end of 1991.


Farage had left Maclaine Watson after four years, around 1986, to join a small trading firm called R. J. Rouse & Co., part of Mercantile House Holdings, in what was another golf course appointment. He was tempted by the offer of a much broader portfolio. The firm was run by a very traditional character, John Barkshire, a colonel in the Territorial Army, but very soon Rouse was also subject to the Big Bang revolution, and was bought up by the French bank Crédit Lyonnais, to become Crédit Lyonnais Rouse.


It was while still working in the City in his early twenties that Farage founded a group called Farage’s Foragers. The ‘foraging’ was a sort of extension of his childhood habit of combing the countryside around Downe for artefacts of any kind – old bottles, the lids of pots or ancient clay pipes – much of it discarded from the grand old houses round the area (and some of which he still has). Only now Farage’s foraging involved trips to First World War battlefields in France and Flanders – it made him a bit of a ‘geek’, Farage once admitted, on the ‘outskirts’ of what was considered a suitable hobby. It was a hobby inherited from his father – ‘a combination of my passion for First World War history and the knowledge gleaned from years of study, together with my other passions for a good, well-cooked meal, a pint of ale (or three) and the company of friends, old and new’.30 They became known as ‘bottlefield tours’ says fellow forager, and future political colleague, Godfrey Bloom. ‘I remember we were in Ypres. It was about three in the morning. We must have drunk the restaurant completely dry. It was one hell of a session, and I called time. I staggered up into bed, and Farage shouted at me: “Lightweight!” And that really sums him up.’31


It was a period when there were still quite a few surviving veterans from the Great War, and Farage would occasionally invite one of them to enliven the trip with first-hand testimony. City colleague Steven Spencer remembers Farage displayed an early sign of his politics when they took with them a British army veteran who was Canadian (or possibly Australian) – and the group had to pass through passport control on the return trip. Immigration officials wanted the Commonwealth veteran to go through a different gate. ‘He confronted the border guards,’ says Spencer. ‘German, French and Belgians were going through the EU citizens’ gate and this Canadian had to go somewhere else. He was passionately pro-ally, pro-Commonwealth, anti-Europe. Nigel was really sensitive about it and said: “This man won a medal in the war for us, you know.” Nigel was pretty annoyed.’32


Though his interest in military history was largely confined to the 1914–18 war, he was also fascinated by one aspect of the Second World War. His childhood home, at 4 West Hill Cottages in Downe, was just over half a mile, across the West Kent golf course, from the main runway at Biggin Hill. And every May or June in his late teens and early twenties, Farage would attend the Biggin Hill Air Fair. It was an era when many Battle of Britain pilots were still alive, so Farage says he ‘always headed for the veterans’ tent where men of “The Few” were selling and signing their autobiographies. So I was lucky to meet many of the famous names that helped save our country.’ The Air Fair gave Farage the ‘added spice’ of meeting German veterans, among them Adolf Galland, who was credited with victories against more than a hundred Allied aircraft.33


In the City, in 1989, Farage also founded a lunching group for people who shared his increasingly Eurosceptic politics. The Column Club met on the first Monday of every month at Simpson’s Tavern off Cornhill. ‘The criteria for membership,’ he’s said, ‘were an appreciation of things British (with particular reference to cricket), a resilient liver, and a hearty appetite, and a deep mistrust of the European Union.’34 Others, however, recall that the politics of some members of Farage’s Column Club were on the extreme right of politics, sympathisers with or members of the British National Party.


Farage had been increasingly unhappy at Rouse, whose foreign owners interfered a lot more than he’d been used to during his early days. The French might also enjoy long wine-filled lunches, but Farage’s new bosses weren’t so tolerant of the City’s old drunken ways. One day he took out to lunch at Sweetings an old friend and client called Joe Corazza. It turned into a long meal, and a very expensive one – several pints of beer, various fish courses, Chablis and a couple of decanters of port. ‘It may just be,’ Farage later wrote, ‘that our intake that afternoon was a trifle excessive by the standards of the modern City.’35


Corazza came up with the suggestion that Farage might like to take him as a guest onto the trading floor of the London Metal Exchange. But when they got there, Corazza proceeded to insult brokers and had to be escorted out by staff. Farage was in big trouble, not least because Rouse was at that point involved in a serious dispute with the LME. He was sacked on the spot.


‘I knew that I was unemployable,’ Farage has said. So, at the start of 1994, he set up on his own. ‘I was henceforth to be my own boss.’36 Farage Futures rented space from Refco, an American commodities company, who also let Farage use various facilities at their City offices. But now he had the independence which provided a platform for subsequent events. ‘So the EU Commission can add Joe Corazza to its blacklist of “Those Who made Farage Possible”,’ he joked in his memoirs.37 And those who made Brexit possible, too.


Farage Futures issued one share to his mother Barbara and Farage held the rest. The firm was officially registered in Chatham, at the offices of a young accountant called Craig Mackinlay (of whom more later). Farage was earning a lot more than he was at the LME, but he had to work much harder, too. His new business involved plenty of foreign travel, notably to the United States, and to Italy. And Farage Futures, which also involved his younger brother Andrew and employed five staff, seems to have been a contented crew. The office had a drinks cabinet, and there were none of the modern City rules of behaviour. His long-standing trading customer Steven Spencer recalls: ‘I would wander into a smoke-filled room, with tobacco smoke about four feet from the floor, with a bunch of very happy traders [and] good chemistry around Nigel.’38 Farage himself smoked a pipe. ‘One of my largest expenses was suit dry-cleaning,’ says Malcolm Freeman, one of his traders.39


‘He had a good team of very good brokers who knew the market backwards,’ Spencer adds. ‘He was very professional; he was very outspoken, and very straight. If he didn’t like what was going on in the market, he would say. Nigel has many faults but lack of integrity is not one of them.’40


‘Everything they were doing – there was no front running or insider trading – Nigel played with a very straight bat,’ says Malcolm Freeman:




Occasionally he could get a little bit invisible when it was his round, but whatever your pay or agreement was with him, I would say and the other guys would too, he met it absolutely to the penny. If he said ‘Your percentage was X’ – because we worked on commission – you got exactly what you thought it was. He was very, very straight on that one. Was he the best dealer in the world? No. You wouldn’t put him down as a naturally talented trader, I don’t think. But he was a superb clients’ man. The company in many ways punched above its weight because he just had a way with people. I know he’s chalk and cheese, but he has a superb way with clients. He does have a cranky but infectious sense of humour.41





Freeman recalls how, under the rules, Farage Futures had to be in a separate office from the main Refco dealing room, cut off by an opaque glass window. And people would hear ‘shrieking laughter’ from inside and go in to find what lay behind it.


‘He was a natural-born salesman,’ says Alex Heath, another commodities broker. ‘Setting up on your own requires backing and it requires people who believe in you, and Nigel is very good at getting people to believe in him.’42


One colleague remembers:




Although we had hysterical fun, we did it always 100 per cent on the right side of what you should be doing. It was his company, and that’s the way he chose to run it. Accounts were correct, taxes were paid; it was all done properly and above board. Looking back on it you think, ‘It was because you wanted to go into politics, you don’t want to be found out for paying everyone in cash or numbered bank accounts in Switzerland.’ Certainly none of that happened. Everyone had a UK account and paid all their own taxes.





The business lasted eight years and some have questioned just how successful Farage Futures was financially. ‘The suggestion that he was a very wealthy man in the City is probably a bit of a misnomer,’ one metals broker told the Financial Times. ‘I don’t think he was anywhere near as successful as some people are portraying.’43


In the early noughties, Farage Futures would run into trouble. So Nigel and Andrew Farage moved under the umbrella of Natixis Metals, a subsidiary of the French bank, Natexis Banque Populaire. One of the bank’s employees wasn’t impressed with Farage’s demands and apparent ingratitude. ‘There was a sense of entitlement about him,’ says Stephen Ayme:




Independence from the bank, doing it his way, rather than the bank’s way, on the basis of his own rules, not the group’s principles. I remember thinking ‘What a prat!’ He had his demands. It had to be like this, and like that. My opinion was that it was a firm led by a guy who turned up at ten, made a few calls and had a few meetings and then would go out to lunch. It struck me that the arrangement would only be temporary, not a long-term relationship.





But Ayme quietly noted, and with some dismay, how much the political views that Farage expressed increasingly openly seemed to strike a chord with his colleagues in the metal-trading world. ‘He was remarkably popular with the metal people. A lot of them lapped up his political leanings and apparent hatred of the European Union. Many thought he was right.’44


And his views were about to get a boost which would propel Nigel Farage into the public limelight.










4 HOOKED BY POLITICS



It was 5 October 1990. Nigel Farage was enjoying Friday evening drinks with his chums at Corney & Barrow, a wine bar on Old Broad Street, when the news came through. Margaret Thatcher and her chancellor, John Major, had decided to take the pound sterling into the Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM), the system which tied many currencies in the European Economic Community (EEC) to each other and so limited fluctuations in exchange rates.


The decision received almost universal approval in political and economic circles, and was backed by Labour, the Liberal Democrats, the trades unions and most business organisations. Many saw Britain joining the ERM as a step towards joining the single currency that was planned by most leaders of the European Community. Thatcher had only agreed to the ERM under considerable pressure from senior colleagues – her foreign secretary Douglas Hurd and, most notably, the new and relatively unknown chancellor, John Major.


‘I was incandescent,’ Nigel Farage remembers. ‘I am told that I spent the rest of the evening fuming and spitting like a very hot fire of green timber. “What sort of stupid, asinine moron is this Major…?” This cannot work…! This will not work…! This will be a disaster…! Yes. Another pint please… This Major man is certifiable…! What does he think he is doing…?’1


The question of Britain’s relationship with Europe still dogged British politics seventeen years after the country joined the Community in 1973. Labour had opposed Ted Heath’s decision, and insisted on revisiting the issue when the party returned to power in 1974. After a superficial renegotiation of the terms of British membership, the government held a referendum in 1975 in which people decided by a margin of more than two to one for the UK to remain members. That didn’t satisfy many Labour activists, however, among them the left-wing leader Tony Benn for whom it was a matter of British ‘sovereignty’. Only eight years after the referendum, Labour fought and lost the 1983 general election on a policy of outright withdrawal, without even suggesting there should be a second plebiscite.


But the Conservatives, too, always had a small band of MPs who remained opposed to Britain’s membership, among them Teddy Taylor and Peter Tapsell. Margaret Thatcher, who had famously campaigned for a Yes vote in 1975 wearing a jumper adorned with flags from all the member states, fought tenaciously as prime minister for Britain’s interests, but never suggested it was time to leave. In the mid-1980s, Thatcher and her ministers played a key part in creating the single market within the Community, to encourage free trade, break down protectionist barriers and harmonise rules and regulations. When finally introduced at the start of 1993, it entailed the famous four freedoms – free movement of people, of capital, of services and of goods.


Meanwhile, the president of the European Commission from 1985 onwards, the French socialist Jacques Delors, led the charge for a single European currency – the euro – to replace individual currencies across the Community. Margaret Thatcher began to become publicly more sceptical about the speed and extent of future integration and urged radical reform of the EEC in its current form. She was an early ‘Eurosceptic’, as the term soon became known.


Thatcher increasingly feared that Germany and France, guided by Helmut Kohl, François Mitterrand and Jacques Delors, along with other European leaders, wanted to turn the European Community into a political project, which would see power sucked away from the individual states to the formation of a federal Europe. In 1988, Margaret Thatcher famously took aim at them in a speech in Bruges (delivered at the city’s medieval watchtower): ‘Let me say bluntly on behalf of Britain: we have not embarked on the business of throwing back the frontiers of the state at home, only to see a European super-state getting ready to exercise a new dominance from Brussels.’2


But leading Conservatives such as Michael Heseltine, Ken Clarke and Douglas Hurd broadly supported many of the moves towards greater European integration, and the Conservatives grew increasingly divided. Labour, meanwhile, had radically changed course under Neil Kinnock, after Jacques Delors persuaded the British trades unions, in a rousing speech to their annual Congress, that the Community could help protect workers’ rights against the excesses of free-market capitalism.


Until this point Nigel Farage had barely dipped a toe into political waters. Officially he was still a member of the Conservative Party, and had worked for them once or twice in local campaigns. But remarkably, in the 1989 elections to the European Parliament, Farage voted for the Green Party. One might think that the Greens stood for everything that Farage didn’t, but he has always been a keen conservationist (inspired no doubt by foraging in Darwin’s garden). More important, the Greens were not the fervent pro-EU group they are today; like most British left-leaning parties at that time, they were hostile to the EEC and saw it as too centralised and dominated by big business, though the Greens didn’t go as far as wanting to withdraw. When he told Bob Brett, his local Tory agent, that he’d voted Green, Farage jokes that ‘he very nearly collapsed and had to be revived with ardent spirits’. Farage felt that ‘My vote was, personally, a hugely significant break with the past. I was striking out on my own, no longer finding refuge in the compromises offered by conventional parties.’ He saw this as a direct result of his accident and illness a few years before.3


The Greens didn’t win any seats in 1989, because Britain still used the first-past-the-post voting system for European elections. But their astonishing 14.5 per cent of the vote was almost three times that of the Liberal Democrats, in a period when green issues were becoming more prominent (following the 1986 Chernobyl disaster and early concerns about climate change). Had Britain used a proportional voting system in 1989, the Greens would have gained about a dozen seats in Brussels, and probably many more since voters would have realised that their votes could translate more directly into seats. The 1989 election showed for the first time how British voters might treat European elections as a chance to protest on a nationwide scale, and give the established parties an occasional kick.


Margaret Thatcher was ousted by Conservative MPs in 1990, only a few weeks after Britain joined the ERM, but her successor, John Major, continued to resist much of the so-called Delors plan for Europe. At their summit in Maastricht in December 1991, European leaders agreed a whole series of measures to codify employment and social regulations, and to start progress towards creating the single currency, the euro, though John Major secured important British opt-outs from these measures.


Two main groups had already taken up the Eurosceptic cause – the Bruges Group, named after Thatcher’s 1988 speech, which largely comprised Conservatives; and the Campaign for an Independent Britain, which was more cross-party. Ahead of the Maastricht summit, the Campaign for an Independent Britain advertised in the London Evening Standard a forthcoming meeting at Methodist Central Hall in Westminster. Top billing was given to two long-standing former Cabinet ministers, the Conservative John Biffen and Labour’s Peter Shore.


In questions after their speeches, there was debate about whether things could really be reformed from inside the Community, and some began asking why Britain couldn’t simply withdraw from the EEC. John Harvey, a maths teacher from Sussex, got a small cheer when he stood up and volunteered to stand as an independent on a policy of withdrawal. Then Dr Alan Sked, a historian from the London School of Economics, rose to his feet and went further. ‘And I intend to start a party which will lead Britain out of the EU,’ John Harvey recalls him saying to the senior figures on the platform. ‘If you will not take that responsibility, we will.’ That was met with even louder cheers.4


Nigel Farage claims to have been in the audience at Westminster Central Hall, attracted there by the ad in the Evening Standard. He says he was also among those who crowded round Sked afterwards to learn more about his plans. Sked can’t remember meeting Farage.


Although he was a university lecturer, Alan Sked was as well dressed as Farage, almost dapper, and stood out for his shock of wavy jet-black hair and his refined Scottish accent. He was a former Liberal, who’d even stood for the party, aged just twenty-two, in Paisley in the 1970 general election. And he saw his new venture not as a right-wing party, but as a ‘centre mainstream liberal democratic party’.5 A student of A. J. P. Taylor, Sked had made his name working on European history, especially the Habsburg dynasty, though many knew him for his classic Penguin book, Post-War Britain: A Political History (written with Chris Cook).


Following the Central Hall meeting, Sked sent out a letter to members of the Bruges Group, and recruited the first 150 members of what he called the Anti-Federalist League (AFL). He then announced that the AFL would stand several candidates at the next general election, which was legally due by the summer of 1992.


The historian in Sked had named his Anti-Federalist League after Richard Cobden and John Bright’s successful mid-nineteenth-century campaign against the corn laws. ‘Just as the Anti-Corn Law League converted [Robert] Peel to free trade,’ Sked later claimed, ‘the Anti-Federalist League would convert the Tory Party to Eurosceptism and to British Independence.’6 It was a ludicrous, cumbersome title which failed to sum up the party’s aspirations, and few voters would have known what ‘federalist’ meant. Some people, Sked now says, assumed the party’s name meant ‘it was akin to right-wing fascist organisations’.7


In the April 1992 general election the AFL fielded just seventeen candidates, and Sked himself stood in Bath against the Conservative chairman Chris Patten, a close ally of John Major. Despite getting just 117 votes (0.2 per cent) in Bath, Sked claims credit for Patten’s dramatic defeat in the city (though nationally, and against expectations, Patten had helped Major achieve a small Commons majority, and more than 14 million votes, the highest total ever secured in Britain). Farage appears to have limited his support for the AFL in the 1992 election to a cheque for £50. Despite Maastricht, and despite problems with the ERM, the AFL did woefully – a total of just 4,383 votes in the seventeen seats it fought. Per candidate, that was worse than the Monster Raving Loony Party, or the two extreme right-wing parties, the National Front and the British National Party. Farage wasn’t one of those candidates and doesn’t appear to have campaigned for Sked or any other AFL contender. He thought the party’s name silly and wasn’t impressed either by the AFL founder. ‘Sked seemed bright, sincere and affable, but soft, unworldly and strangely spoiled,’ he wrote. ‘He was autocratic in style and a seriously bad organiser.’8


Despite the election setback, Sked pressed on. He claims he first met Nigel Farage after a Bruges Group meeting at the Reform Club, a few weeks after the election. ‘He was respectfully dressed, and said could he join the AFL, and I said “Yes, of course.” ’9 Sked then convened an AFL meeting at his workplace, the LSE, the institution founded by some of the giants of Fabian socialism – Sidney and Beatrice Webb and George Bernard Shaw. Until then, the Anti-Federalist League had been pretty much a one-man show, but now Sked wanted to create some of the structure of a proper party. This post-election meeting was the first AFL gathering which Farage attended, but he didn’t join the new National Executive Committee. He didn’t do much, in fact, until a year later when Sked stood in the May 1993 Newbury by-election. Sked had persuaded Farage’s schoolboy hero Enoch Powell to come and address a public meeting. He had no trouble enlisting Farage to drive Powell down to Berkshire, for what was one of Powell’s last public appearances.


Sked’s memory is that Powell said nothing on the journey in Farage’s Mercedes, a company car belonging to his employers, Crédit Lyonnais Rouse. ‘There was complete silence all the way, and we never exchanged a word. He had nothing in common with Farage, and never spoke to Farage. We drove back to Eaton Square and he simply thanked Farage.’10 Farage claims that Powell not only gave him detailed instructions on how to reach the M4, but then, after dinner in a local pub, told him not to worry about not being on time for the meeting. ‘Better to be a little late. It is all part of the act,’ he reportedly said.11


As they arrived outside Newbury racecourse, the venue for the meeting, they encountered a small demonstration. Farage says one protestor hit the back of his car with a wooden stake, but Powell was used to such violence. He advised Farage to drive as close to the door as possible, and they got in without further mishap. Powell’s speech – given to several hundred people ‘was fiery and colourful, logical and persuasive’, Farage would recall. It ‘awoke all sorts of aspirations in me which I had not even acknowledged before. It inspired me. Public service was not just about kowtowing to a party line.’12


Farage spent more than a week in Newbury campaigning for Sked, canvassing homes, chatting to voters in pubs, helping arrange meetings in village halls and driving the candidate round Newbury in a turquoise pickup truck adorned with yellow Sked posters. Farage found he loved talking to ordinary people and seemed good at it. And Newbury was an exciting campaign in good weather, in the era when by-elections were still covered extensively by the media (with this reporter there almost full-time for BBC Newsnight). The Conservatives were on the defensive after sterling had crashed out of the ERM the previous September, and huge tax rises were announced in Norman Lamont’s 1993 Budget. Nonetheless, the result was a shock. The Tories’ 12,357 majority was turned into one of 22,055 for the Liberal Democrats. Farage hadn’t made much of an impact, though. Sked got just 601 votes.


Nonetheless, the whole election experience – especially the Enoch Powell event – had thrilled and energised Farage. He wanted more. He loved the selling and persuasion of the campaign, trying to charm and convince total strangers on the street. Politics would now be his life. ‘I was hooked,’ he says.13


In Christchurch, Dorset, twelve weeks later, in July 1993, Sked stood at a second by-election. The final days of the contest were conducted against the dramatic background at Westminster of John Major trying to get his Maastricht legislation through the Commons as sixty-one days of debate drew to a climax. A group of Eurosceptic Tory rebels joined with Labour to defeat the government over the Social Chapter, and Major then called a Vote of Confidence, which he duly won. But this high drama in London seemed to have little impact in Dorset, and again the Anti-Federalist League didn’t click with voters. Alan Sked’s leaflets included a picture of Enoch Powell, which illustrated one of the AFL’s problems during that era. Sked liked the intellectual Powell as an opponent of the European project, but the populist Powell must also have attracted voters who admired him for his opposition to non-white immigration, an issue which Sked would adamantly not touch. Sked got just 878 votes in Christchurch, an improvement on Newbury, but negligible nonetheless.


The Liberal Democrats still remained the obvious choice for people who wanted to cast a protest vote, and they pulled off an even bigger shock than Newbury, with an astonishing swing of 35 per cent. This reduced Major’s majority to just seventeen, which gave Tory Eurosceptics even more clout. The rebels caused trouble for Major on European issues for the rest of the Parliament, and at one point nine Conservative MPs – the so-called Maastricht rebels – were suspended from the parliamentary party, which theoretically wiped out Major’s majority altogether.


Euroscepticism was slowly gaining strength, but, eight days after Christchurch, senior figures in the Anti-Federalist League gathered at the LSE and decided they wouldn’t get far in advancing the anti-EU cause with an incomprehensible name. So in September 1993, again at the LSE, the UK Independence Party was born. But that was quite a mouthful, too. People soon called it ‘the UKIP’, and later simply ‘UKIP’. Farage was on one of his battlefield tours, so didn’t attend this historic first meeting, but now he did join the National Executive.


His colleagues included the teacher John Harvey; Hugh Moelwyn-Hughes, a Welsh solicitor; Anthony Scholefield, who owned tourist shops in central London; and Gerard Batten, a sales executive with British Telecom. The only woman was Helen Szamuely, a fellow historian whom Sked had met and recruited after they’d both been invited to tea with A. J. P. Taylor’s widow in Oxford.


Farage, at twenty-nine, was one of two youngsters. The other was Craig Mackinlay, a 27-year-old accountant from Kent, who had contacted Sked after hearing him on a BBC politics programme. Indeed, Mackinlay had also stood for election in 1992, but not under the AFL banner. ‘I wasn’t keen on this posh, nineteenth-century-style name,’ he says, and he stood instead as an Independent opposed to EEC membership and to Maastricht. Farage and Mackinlay were obvious rivals as the bright, young, rising stars in a party which was predominantly elderly, but they became friends too. They often went out drinking together, Mackinlay says, and Farage recruited Mackinlay as the accountant for Farage Futures.


The new UKIP decided that their first big goal would be the next elections to the European Parliament, due in June 1994, though their prospects weren’t very promising since European elections in Britain – as in 1989 – were still contested on the traditional first-past-the-post system, with eighty-four large single-member constituencies of just over half a million voters, on average. Sked was adamant, however, that in the highly unlikely event that any UKIP candidate were to be elected an MEP, they should adopt an ‘abstentionist’ position similar to Sinn Féin’s long-standing policy that its MPs should boycott the Westminster Parliament. But senior UKIP figures were far from agreed on this. The question of how much they should participate in an institution they despised would cause wrangles for the next quarter of a century. Those who feared UKIP MEPs would be corrupted by living in Brussels and Strasbourg, and unable to resist the European gravy train, would feel vindicated by events.


John Harvey suggested their MEPs should turn up in Brussels or Strasbourg just once, and make a speech declaring they would only return once UK independence had been secured. Sked incorrectly said that joining the Parliament would require UKIP MEPs to swear an oath of allegiance to the EU. Moreover, Sked argued, it would be seen as legitimising the Parliament and the European Union itself. Farage believed in participation, though for several years the issue was merely hypothetical.


Farage was adopted as candidate for the European seat of Itchen, Test and Avon – what he called ‘the angler’s celestial constituency’, though he had little time to pursue his passion for fishing.14 It comprised the city of Southampton and five surrounding Westminster seats in Hampshire, Dorset and Wiltshire. On the same day there was also scheduled a by-election in one of those constituencies – the railway town of Eastleigh in Hampshire. It made obvious sense for Farage to be UKIP’s nominee for the Westminster seat, too, and he subsequently boasted of being ‘the first candidate ever to stand for UKIP’.15 That’s not really true. Unusually, there were five parliamentary by-elections on 9 June 1994, and UKIP also stood in three other Westminster seats in east London – Newham North East, Dagenham and Barking.


Farage put all his effort into Eastleigh. No doubt hoping to rekindle memories of nearby Newbury the year before, he wrote to Enoch Powell asking for further help:




I have everything in place to fight a good, aggressive campaign but a voice from you could transform things and put the issue to the forefront. Please give us the help you can. As your performance at Newbury showed the electorate are beginning to wake from that long sleep. Come and give them another jog…


I will hold several public meetings during the campaign and I would like you to come and speak at the Town Hall in Eastleigh at some point during the week preceding Polling Day. If you agree to this I will, of course, organise transport, dinner and whatever you need. I might take a break from the driving this time!


… the manifesto for the European elections states clearly that if elected, UKIP candidates will not take their seats. I know that you approve of this policy.





Farage, of course, didn’t tell Powell that he himself opposed this abstentionist stance. But Powell’s response was rather disappointing: ‘I have given very serious consideration to the request,’ he wrote, ‘but have concluded that I do not feel I can contribute further to the campaign by speaking on your behalf at the by-election. Recent developments seem to show that opinion in the United Kingdom is consolidating against membership of the European Union.’16 In subsequent years, before Powell’s death in 1998, several other UKIP members wrote to Powell, begging him to stand as a UKIP candidate. He always declined.


A film clip from the Eastleigh campaign on YouTube shows the 30-year-old Farage in a cream linen summer jacket, pinning a red, white and blue UKIP rosette to his lapel.17 His voice is more nasal, more hesitant and less fluent than the Farage of later years. And he calls his party ‘the U-K-I-P’, spelled out in letters rather than as an acronym. He did slightly better in Eastleigh, though, than Alan Sked had in the Newbury and Christchurch by-elections – with 952 votes, or 1.7 per cent. But the three UKIP candidates who stood in the East End of London that day all performed a bit better – a sign of the party’s potential in working-class areas with high levels of immigration.


The result for the European seat, Itchen, Test and Avon, was declared three days later, and here Farage could claim some success, with 12,423 votes – 5.4 per cent. This was UKIP’s best result in the UK, and Farage was one of only two UKIP candidates to retain his deposit. ‘There’s a new party in British politics,’ Farage declared in his speech at the count. ‘I came to this constituency without a single member of my party here when we began, with no money at all, and still we get 5 per cent.’18


Following the success of the Greens in 1989, it was clear that increasing numbers of voters saw the European elections as a chance to experiment with other parties. Before long, that would become ever more prevalent.


UKIP had opened a ramshackle campaign office in Eastleigh, and Farage told a TV interviewer they would keep it open for an extra month to handle all the enquiries from the public they’d had as a result of the TV election broadcast which UKIP had been allowed for the European election. Farage himself soon ventured to another of the Westminster seats within his 1994 Euro constituency, the cathedral city of Salisbury, where a local farmer, Tony Gatling, had approached him about standing at the next election (due by the spring of 1997). A notice in the Salisbury Journal declared that Farage had been announced as their candidate by the Wiltshire branch of UKIP, during a ‘wine and cheese party’ in the village of Compton Chamberlayne.19


Salisbury’s sitting MP, Robert Key, was a left-leaning Conservative who had once been an adviser to Edward Heath, the prime minister who’d taken Britain into Europe, and had later helped Heath find a home in the city. Farage and Tony Gatling put huge effort into campaigning, even though the election was probably two years away. Farage increasingly devoted his weekends to UKIP activity and saw little of his family at a time when his marriage was falling apart.


In Wiltshire, he and Gatling and a growing band of helpers would hand out leaflets on the streets, knock on doors and hold public meetings. It was all based on very old-fashioned techniques at a time when the mainstream parties were increasingly canvassing by telephone, or reaching voters by direct mail. Farage would usually stay at the Gatlings’ farmhouse, but it was gruelling and sometimes demoralising work. On one occasion they advertised a meeting and nobody turned up, though that was perhaps rather less embarrassing than having to address an audience of just one or two. Gatling observed how with each meeting Farage improved as a speaker and grew in confidence.


By October 1996, UK Independence News was reporting that in Salisbury ‘their local newsletter has a circulation of 2,300 sympathisers and the PPC [Prospective Parliamentary Candidate] Nigel Farage has spoken at twenty-four meetings throughout the constituency’. More important, Alan Sked came down to open a branch office in the city, and the event got several minutes on the local ITV news, including shots of the UKIP battle bus outside Edward Heath’s grand Georgian house in the Cathedral Close. Symbolically, UKIP’s new Salisbury office also took over some of the administrative burden handled by national headquarters.20


Gradually, Farage expanded his UKIP activity beyond Salisbury. While he was content to let Alan Sked handle national media opportunities – pretty limited at that time – he began building UKIP at the grassroots – in village halls, in upstairs rooms in pubs, in people’s sitting rooms. Locals would organise and advertise a meeting. Farage would be billed as star speaker, and his increasingly fluent oratory would inspire the formation of another local branch. Every speech ended with the same peroration, which regular listeners soon learned to mouth in sync: ‘We seek an amicable divorce from the political European Union and its replacement with a genuine free trade agreement, which is what we thought we signed up to in the first place!’21


The journalist and environmentalist Richard North, who became involved in the early UKIP, says that even at this stage, in the mid-’90s, Nigel Farage was effectively running the party. ‘Sked was an academic, very gentle, an intellectual. He didn’t have the “street cred”, the nous; he wasn’t a thug in a way Farage was. You needed somebody out there to bruise people, beat people up, get them motivated and moving.’22 Farage was the best speaker the party had, and happy to campaign night after night after night, with long car journeys to each location, which meant he saw even less of Clare and his two young sons.


But Farage wasn’t just building up the local party member by member, branch by branch, he was also making his name and becoming popular. For many local activists, he was the only senior UKIP figure they had ever met. Tony Scholefield, one of the founding NEC members and a long-standing critic of Farage, nonetheless acknowledges this early contribution. ‘Nigel was good. Going round setting up branches was a job which most people didn’t want to do. Who would want to do that? In those five years he would establish a few dozen branches.’


In tactics, though not politics, Richard North compares Farage with the historic insurgents of 1920s Germany. ‘It was as if intuitively he had adopted the same strategy as the Nazis did in the early days, by-passing the media. It went under the radar and he did hundreds of meetings in church halls and pubs. He was there, building a support base of public recognition that was invisible to the media. He worked for it, and he worked his socks off.’23


When Farage stood for re-election to the UKIP NEC in June 1996 against ten other contenders, he topped the poll by a comfortable margin – 634 (82 per cent) of the 773 voters supported him, compared with 550 (71 per cent) for his closest rival.


But Tony Scholefield says it soon seeped back to other people in the leadership that Farage was also using these semi-public UKIP meetings to make no secret of his contempt for Alan Sked and other senior figures. He wouldn’t refer to them by name but talk, for instance, of ‘when we get the right people in charge’. Scholefield says this meant that when, around 1996, the party started to hold larger conferences, with several hundred members, ‘there were a lot of people primed that Sked, Scholefield, Mackinlay etc were all no good.’24


Relations between Alan Sked and Nigel Farage grew ever more strained, and the UKIP leader says he got written complaints from Salisbury voters about Farage’s leaflets, saying things such as: ‘I’m very happy that your candidate in Salisbury believes in education, but I will not vote for him until he learns to spell.’ Sked adds: ‘One day, I said: “Nigel, I’m going to have to teach you the rudiments of English spelling and grammar.” After an hour, he flounced out and said: “I don’t understand words.” ’25 It may seem an odd remark for a former Dulwich College schoolboy, yet while Farage has always been brilliant with the spoken word, he’s never shown much skill as a writer.


Alan Sked also alleges that he admonished Farage for turning up drunk to National Executive meetings. Given Sked’s subsequent bitterness towards Farage and UKIP, one should take his claims with caution. On the drunkenness allegation, however, there is corroboration. The NEC minutes for February 1997 report that during one discussion ‘Dr Sked rebuked Nigel Farage for constantly repeating himself, and for coming to the meeting under the influence of alcohol.’26


The former UKIP leader also says that after a meeting of the NEC, Farage took some of his colleagues to a Mayfair strip club. ‘The place was decorated like a Victorian brothel. It was incredibly sleazy,’ Sked says. ‘It was full of these hatchet-faced women wearing nothing but G-strings, selling drinks. Nigel was buying the drinks. I think we had champagne. The rest of us had one drink and in that time Nigel had half a dozen. He was completely blotto. As I left, I saw Nigel’s head was wedged between one woman’s breasts. He confessed later he had no idea how he got home.’27


Far more serious is a claim which Sked has repeated in print on many occasions, but which Nigel Farage has always vehemently denied. Sked says that just before the 1997 election, Farage suggested it was time to drop the policy on banning former National Front members from being UKIP candidates. ‘Don’t be so daft!’ Sked recalls him saying. ‘We’re a liberal party, committed against racism. The National Front is fascist. And he then said: “You needn’t worry about the nigger vote. Nig-nogs will never vote for us.” There was nobody else there, so there is no witness.’28


Sked’s numerous accounts of this conversation vary in small details, but not in the overall thrust of what Farage reportedly said, nor in his alleged use of the highly offensive words ‘nigger’ and ‘nig-nogs’.29 Hundreds of people were interviewed during the research for this book – including dozens who dealt with him during the 1990s – yet nobody else recalls Nigel Farage using such racist language at any time since he left Dulwich College in 1982. Nor do any of the interviewees recollect Farage saying anything even close to such words – yet many of them dislike him and are highly critical in numerous other ways. It seems probable that either Sked’s memory is at fault, or that if Farage did say what Sked alleges, it was a one-off instance – though once would be bad enough.


The Eurosceptic journalist Richard North, who subsequently fell out with Farage, denies that he’s an ‘out-and-out’ racist. But Farage was ‘locked in aspic’ from the time of the Great War, he says:




He was racist in a Churchillian sense. He believed in the superiority of the white Englishman – King and Empire. He was really interested in the First World War. He’d done his battlefield tours. His knowledge was incredibly limited to the British front. He knew nothing about the French. He wasn’t interested in the Second World War. Just the First World War. In a sense he’s a white supremacist on a King and Country basis, rather than overt hatred of coloured people. He would have made a wonderful subaltern in the Indian Army, that was his demeanour. As an Englishman he’d won first place in the lottery of life.30





Throughout the 1990s the political tide was slowly moving in UKIP’s direction. Margaret Thatcher had made Euroscepticism more acceptable within the Conservative Party and the former PM gave her tacit approval when some Tory MPs opposed the Maastricht Treaty and other moves towards further EU integration. Within government, hardline Eurosceptic Cabinet ministers John Redwood, Michael Portillo and Peter Lilley became known as ‘the bastards’ after John Major was caught on camera calling them that.


A sign of how things were moving so rapidly was seen with the former chancellor Norman Lamont, who had run John Major’s leadership campaign, and suffered the humiliation of Black Wednesday in 1992 when Britain was forced out of the ERM. Privately, Lamont told the Conservative Philosophy Group in 1994 that withdrawal from the EU should be restored to the range of ‘serious possibilities’.31 A few months later, Lamont told a Conservative conference fringe meeting, ‘When we come to examine the advantages of our membership today of the European Union they are remarkably elusive… I cannot pinpoint a single concrete advantage that unambiguously comes to this country because of our membership… I do not suggest that Britain should today unilaterally withdraw from Europe. But the issue may well return to the political agenda.’32


UKIP had competition on the right of British politics, however. Serious competition. In the 1994 European elections, the controversial billionaire businessman Sir James Goldsmith had secured election to the Brussels parliament from a seat in France as a candidate for French Eurosceptic party L’Autre Europe.


Sir James, a member of the German-Jewish Goldsmith banking family, was a flamboyant and buccaneering financier who made his considerable fortune through high-stakes takeovers and asset-stripping. He had a colourful love life, three wives and several homes. Goldsmith’s hostility towards the EU stemmed from his belief that it was a back-door way for Germany to take control of Europe. Although his father had been a Conservative MP, Goldsmith was knighted in 1976 in the notorious resignation honours list of the Labour prime minister Harold Wilson. Goldsmith had won favour with Wilson, and achieved considerable public attention, with his long-running feud against Private Eye which almost bankrupted the satirical magazine. The Eye had accused Goldsmith of trying to help his friend Lord Lucan escape justice after the murder of Lucan’s family nanny and the peer’s mysterious (and still unresolved) disappearance.


In 1993, Goldsmith delivered a television lecture explaining his hostility to the European Union – on Channel 4 of all places. So later that year the first national secretary of the brand-new UK Independence Party wrote to Goldsmith seeking his financial support. ‘Dear Gerard Batten,’ Goldsmith replied. ‘Thank you for your letter which has just reached me in Europe… I am grateful for your suggestions. However, I will continue to fight for the cause, but on a non-party-political basis.’33


And yet within five months of the European elections in 1994, Sir James reversed that stance. He was a friend of the TV presenter Sir David Frost, and the two men agreed the format of an interview on Frost’s Sunday morning BBC programme, to allow Goldsmith suddenly to announce, with maximum impact, that he would now form a new party in Britain. The Referendum Party, as the name suggests, had the single policy of campaigning for a public vote on Britain’s continued membership of the European Union, a softer goal than UKIP’s aim of outright withdrawal. And unlike UKIP, the new Referendum Party had the benefit of Goldsmith’s huge wealth, which he promised to spend liberally. The new party looked bound not just to grab far more media attention than UKIP, but to crush its poorer rival in the process.


James Goldsmith recruited some high-profile candidates. These included Margaret Thatcher’s former economic adviser Sir Alan Walters; the entrepreneur Peter de Savary; the TV botanist David Bellamy; and the zoo-owner and gambling impresario John Aspinall. Goldsmith himself decided to stand in Putney against the former Cabinet minister David Mellor. The party fielded 547 candidates in the 1997 election, and avoided seats where the sitting MP – of whatever party – was known to be Eurosceptic.


The story of the Referendum Party in the mid-1990s is worth a book in itself. Sir James Goldsmith was said at the time to have spent £20 million on the campaign, but according to Goldsmith’s then political chief-of-staff Patrick Robertson, the real tally was around £28 million. It was easily the largest sum any individual has ever spent on a British election, and one of the largest that any political party has ever expended in the UK. It enabled the Referendum Party to be highly professional in comparison with the ramshackle amateurs of UKIP.


Goldsmith recruited a hundred local election agents and set up ten regional offices. Candidates were vetted by a security firm and checked with the World Jewish Congress in case they had shown anti-Semitic or fascist views in their past, and candidates received professional training. The Referendum Party had no actual members – just registered supporters – since Goldsmith said that because he was wealthy he didn’t think it right to ask people to pay subscriptions. Nor was there any internal democracy: it was entirely Jimmy Goldsmith’s show. But the party attracted some interesting names of the future. These included a University of Essex politics graduate, then in her early twenties, who’d left a job at Conservative HQ to run the Referendum Party press office. She was the future home secretary Priti Patel.


Goldsmith’s millions were largely spent communicating with voters on a grand scale in the run-up to the general election. The party placed numerous advertisements in national and local newspapers, and Goldsmith arranged for a professionally made film, on 5 million VHS cassette tapes, to be posted out to voters. The tapes were produced in America and had to be flown in on two jumbo jets, but because of election spending rules the VHS mailing couldn’t be confined to the most promising constituencies: they had to be spread evenly around the UK, to roughly 8,000 households per seat, chosen randomly from the electoral register. John Major and his party did their best to spike Goldsmith’s guns. Sir James was offered a peerage to withdraw, but refused the bribe. And in 1996 the Major government blunted Goldsmith’s message – and sole policy – by conceding at last that they would hold a referendum if the Conservatives decided to take Britain into the proposed European single currency. Labour felt obliged to match Major’s pledge, and the Liberal Democrats advocated a referendum, too.


UKIP’s campaign, in contrast, was weak and chaotic. The only ‘name’ they could claim was the actor Leo McKern, famous for playing the title role in the TV series Rumpole of the Bailey. He was employed to introduce UKIP’s sole party election broadcast sitting alongside Alan Sked in a formal room with a photo of Winston Churchill on the wall. It was almost comic. ‘We are not a one-issue party,’ Sked insisted, ‘but a potential party of government.’ ‘Thank you, Dr Sked,’ McKern replied, ‘I, for one, was most impressed.’ McKern then turned to viewers and added, ‘No doubt, you were as well.’34


UKIP fielded just 193 candidates in 1997 – in less than a third of the seats, mostly in Conservative parts of southern England. In all but twenty-five seats they were competing directly with a Goldsmith candidate. UKIP didn’t bother standing in most of the Midlands and the North: they had no candidates, for example, in Hartlepool, Boston & Skegness, or Grimsby, or Harwich in East Anglia, all of which would be prime UKIP targets twenty years later.


In part, of course, this reflected the UKIP membership, which was heavily concentrated across the South. In the 1990s, UKIP was regarded – internally and externally – very much as a middle-class and lower middle-class alternative to the Conservatives – a party of golf clubs in the home counties, and crusty retired colonels. Nigel Farage used to say that in the early days you could always tell you were at a UKIP meeting by the number of Bomber Command ties in the audience. Farage, the public school-educated City trader from the borders of London and Kent – a man who loved golf, cricket and fishing, and pottering about First World War battlefields – fitted that southern middle-class profile perfectly.


The Referendum Party got 811,849 votes in 1997, well short of their 1 million target, and all but forty-two of Goldsmith’s candidates lost their deposits. It worked out at about £35 per vote, though Goldsmith could at least claim he had forced the major parties to pledge a referendum on the single currency. But their presence may have caused quite a few Conservative MPs to lose their seats – nineteen Tories lost by a smaller margin than the vote for the Referendum Party contender. Among those probably defeated by the presence of a Goldsmith candidate were Cabinet ministers Roger Freeman and Tony Newton, and the former Olympic gold medallist Sebastian Coe.
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